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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ta the Management and the Baard of Directors of Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş. (the “Bank”) and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”), which campdse the consolidated statement of
fınancial position as at December 31, 2016, and the consolidated income statement consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash fiows for the year then ended, and notes to the consohdated fınancial statements,
inciuding a summary of signifıcant accounting policies.

in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated fınancial statements present fairiy, in ali materiai
respects, the cansolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2016, and its
cansolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accardance with international Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accardance with international Standards on Auditing (iSAs). Our
responsibilities under mose standards are further deseribed in the Auditor’s respansibiiities for the
audit of the fınancial statements section of cur report. We am independent of the Group in aceordance
with the international Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code af Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfıiled aur other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
ta provide a basis for our apinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most signiflcance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit af the financial statements as a whole, and in forning our opinion thereon, and we
da not provide a separate opinion an these matters. For each matter beiaw, our descriptian af how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfluled the responsibibties described in the Auditor’s responsibihties for the audit of the
financial statements section of aur report, including in reiatian ta these matters. Accardingiy, our audit
included the performance of pracedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks af
material misstatement af the financiai statements. The results of our audit procedures, inciuding the
pracedures performed to address the matters beiaw, pravide the basis for our audit opinian on the
accampanying consohdated fınanciai statements

Impairment of Joans and advances

Determining the adequacy of impairment allowance on laans and advances to custamers is a key area
of judgment for the management due ta the significance af the baiances, and compiexity and
subjectivity over estimating timing and amount of impairment. The risk is that iaans and advances are
impaired and na reasanabie impairment losses/pravisions are pravided in accardance with the
requirements af IFRS. Accordingly, carrying amaunt af ioans and customers might be greater than the
estimated recaverable amaunts, therefore the impairment test af these ioans af advances is a key
audit matter. Refer Note 9 ta the cansoHdated financial statements reiating ta the impairment af ioans
and advances.
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Our audit procedures included, among others, considering, assessing and testing the relevant controls
over granting, booking, monitoring and settlement, and those relating to the calculation of credit
provisions, to confirm the operating effectiveness of the key controls in place, which identify the
impaired loans and advances and the required provisions against thern. in addition we selected
sarnpies of Ioans and advances based on ourjudgement and considered whether there was objective
evidence that impairment exists on these Ioans and advances. We also assessed whether irnpairment
losses for loans and advances were reasonabiy determined in accordance with the requirements of
IFRS.

Deflvafive Financial Jnstruments and Hedge Accounting

Derivative financial instruments inciuding foreign exchange contracts, forward rate agreements,
currency and interest rate swaps, interest rate futures, currency and interest rate options (both written
and purchased), credit default swaps and other derivative fınancial instruments which are heid for
trading are initialiy recognized on the staternent of financial position at fair vaiue and subsequently are
re-rneasured at their fair value. The risk is the fair valuation of derivative instruments heid for trading in
accordance with IFRS.

As explained in Note 8 to the consoiidated financial staternents the Group enters into hedge
relationships to manage exposures to interest rate, and foreign currency risks. in order to manage
particuJar risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions that rneet the specifled criteria.
The Group uses of derivatives to hedge the financial risk of its deposits, borrowings, Ioans and
investment securities for sale.

The Group docurnents the hedge relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items at
inception, as weil as their risk management objectives and the strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing
basis, of whether the instruments that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in
offsetting changes in values of hedged items. The Group performs prospective and retrospecfive
effectiveness tests and accounts the results in accordance with IFRS. The risk is that hedge
relationships are not ehgible, effective, accounted for correctly nor documented formally in accordance
with IFRS.

Our procedures included, amongst others, testing fair value calculations for heding derivatives, re
performing effectiveness tests hedge accounting entries and and reviewing hedge docurnentation and
related discJosures relating to derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting considering the
requirements of IFRS.

Pension fund

Yapı ve Kredi Bankası Anonim Şirketi Mensupları Yardırn ve Emekli Sandığı Vakfı <the “Fund”) was
established in accordance with the 2Oth temporary article of the Social Security Law Na. 506. As
disclosed in Nota 24 Retirement benefit obligations of the Pension Fund. the Group deterrnines the
present value of funded benefit obiigations in accordance with the Law No. 6645 on Arnendment of the
Occupational Health and Safety Law and Other Laws and Decree Laws by using several critical
actuariai assumptions, including the discount rate, mortality rate, and medical costs defined by the
Law. The valuation of the Pension Fund liabilities requires judgement in deterrnining appropriate
assumptions such as salary increases, rnortality rates, discount rates, infiation Ievels and the impact of
any changes in individual pension plans. Management uses external actuaries to assist in assessing
these assumptions. Movernents in these assumptions can have a rnaterial impact on the
determination of the Iiability.

Giyen the subjectivity and sensitivity of the key pararneters used in the pension plan calculations we
considered this to be a key item for our audit.
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Our procedures included, amongst others, assessing whether there have been any signiflcant
changes in employee beneflts plans during the period, that could lead ta adjust the valuation of
employee beneflts, such as: new plan employee, signiflcant changes in actuarial assumptions or
methods related to employee benefıt plans (demographic assumptians, turnover, retirement age,
discount rate), signiflcant funding ar reimbursements of a retirement plan during the period, or
signiflcant changes affecting the workforce. We involved actuarial specialist to assess the
appropriateness of the actuarial assumptions and calculations perfarmed by the Group’s actuary. We
have performed the audit of the pension fund financial statements including valuation of real estates.
We further focused on the accuracy and adequacy of the Bank’s pension fund Iiability disclosures on
key assumptions in Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of the Management and the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentaüon of the consalidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated fınancial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the consolidated financial statements, the management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability ta continue as a gaing concern, disclosing, as appiicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends ta
liquidate the Group arta cease operations, or has na realistic alternative butto do sa.

The Management and the Board af Directors am responsible for overseeing the Group’s fınancial
reparting process.

Auditor’s responsibilitles for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

0w- objectives are ta abtain reasonable assurance about whether the consalidated financial
statements asa whole are free fram material misstatement, whether due ta fraud or errar, and ta issue
an auditors report that includes our apinion. Reasanable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accardance wiih ISAs wili always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise fram fraud or errar and are cansidered material
if, individualiy or in the aggregate, they cauld reasonabiy be expected ta influence the ecanomic
decisians of users taken an the basis of these cansolidated financial statements.

As part af an audit in accordance with lSAs, we exercise prafessional judgment and maintain
professianal skepticism throughaut the audit. We alsa:

• Identify and assess the risks af material misstatement af the consalidated financial
statements, whether due ta fraud or errar, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
thase risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufflcient and appmpriate ta pravide a basis for
aur opinian. The risk af not detecting a matedal misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for ane resulting fram error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissians,
misrepresentations, or the averride of internal control.

• Cbtain an understanding of intemal control relevant ta the audit in order tü design audit
procedures that are apprapriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal contral.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accaunting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclasures made by the Management and the Board of
Directors.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and the Board of Director’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast signiflcant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained tıp to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

• Evaluate the overali presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
staternents, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underiying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufflcient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entitles
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supeMsion and performance of the group
audit. We remain soleiy responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Management and the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deflciencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We alsa provide the Management and the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with thern alI
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Management and the Board of Directors we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yaşar Bivas.

Güney BağImsIz Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonirn Şirketi
A member fırm of Ernst aYoung Global Umited.

Istanbul, Turkey
March 7, 2017
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

December 31, December 31,
Note 2016 2016

Assets
Cash and balances with central hanks 5 33,083,295 27,388,947
Loans and advances ta banks 6 3,449,218 3,397,631
Financial assets held for trading
- Trading securities 7 43,365 74,239
- Derivative financial instmments 7-8 2,986.773 1676,669
Loans and advances ta customers 9 188,980,851 162,526,899
Hedging dehvatives 8 1,209,712 961,041
Investment securities
- Available-for-sale 10 12,948,479 9,788,185
- Available-for-sale pledged as collateral 10-35 5,268,827 12,914,978
- Held-ta-naturity ‘10 4.628,032 1,317,101
- HeId-to-maturity pledged as callateral 10-35 6,960,858 5,791,708
lnvestment in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the

equity method 11-12 682.728 566,076
GoodwiII 13 1,023,528 1,023,528
Otherintangibleassets 14 587,422 528,911
Property and eguipment 15 1,267,706 1,281,051
Deferred income tax assets 22 94,246 185,900
Otherassets 16 5,317,893 3,616,218

Total assets 268,532,933 233,039,082

Liabilities
Deposits fram hanks 17 13,811,243 15,385,169
Customer depasits 18 149,550,753 125,055,432
Funds borrowed 19 37,167,753 32,425,022
Debt securities in issue 20 19,308,899 16,697,058
Financial liabilities designated at fair value 21 3,938,694 3,253,119
Derivative fınancial instruments 8 2,578,679 1,922,408
Current income taxes payable 33,792 195,800
Deferred incame tax liabilities 22 7,892 2,970
Hedging dehvatives 8 89,296 148,278
Other provisions 23 765,014 713,469
Retirement benefit obligations 24 697,516 715,637
Other liabilities 25 13,663,912 12,953,335

Total Iiabilities 241,613,443 209,467,697

Equity

Share capital and share premium 27 4,822,259 4,822,259
Other reserves 28 1,195,533 999,508
Retained eamings 28 20,901,197 17,749,148

Eguity aüributable to eguity holders of the parent 26,918,989 23,570,915

Eçuity attributable ta non-controBing interests 501 470

Total eguity 26,919,490 23,571,385

Total Iiabilities and eguity 268,532,933 233,039,082

The accompanying notes set out on pages 6 ta 89 form an integral part of these consolidated fınanciaı statements.

(1)



Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2016
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

December 31, December 31,
Note 2016 2015

Continuing opembons
Interest income 29 19751,183 16900,228
Interestexpense 29 (11,732,216) (10,765,717)

Net interest income 8,018,967 6,134,511

Fee and commission income 30 3,706,435 3,540,284
Fee and commission expense 30 (1,309,008) (1,119,901)

Net fee and commission income 2,397,427 2,420,383

Foreign exchange gains, net 119,905 132,610
Net trading, hedging and fairvalue income 31 350,457 52,461
Gains from nvestment securities, net 40,488 260,620
Other operating income 120,506 203,072

Operating income 11,047,750 9,203,657

Impairment losses on Ioans, investment
securities and credit reJated commitments, net 33 (2,362,567) (1,581,942)

Provision for retirement benefit obligations, net 24 (24,514) 31,509
Other provisions 23 (127,668) (136,921)
Other operating expenses 32 (4,588,092) (4,219,301)

Operating profit 3,944,909 3,297,002

Share of profıü(Joss) of associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method 1 1-12 85,362 50,806

Profit before income tax 4,030,271 3,347,808

Income tax expense 22 (781,936) (657,624)

Profit for the year 3,246,335 2,690,184

Ahributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 3,248,269 2,690,133
Non-controlling interest 66 51

3,248,335 2,690,184

Basic and diluted eamings per share attributable to the equity
holders of the Parent (expressed in TL perthousand share) 34 7,47 6.19

The accompanying notes set out on pages 6 to 89 form an integral part of these consolidated financiaı statements.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2016
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

December 31, December 31,
Note 2016 2015

Profit for the year 3248,335 2,690,184

Items that ara or may be reciassifled ta protit or ıoss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 326,535 105,088
Net gains 1 (losses) on available-for-sale financıal assets
. Unrealized net gans / (Josses) arising during the year, before tax 42,051 (610,331)
- Net amount reclassifıed ta the statement of income (236,391) (260,308)
Net nvestment hedges
- Net gains / (losses) arising on hedges recognized in other comprehensive

income, before tax 5 (201,497) (120,327)
Cash flow hedges
. Net gains 1 (losses) ahsing on hedges recognized in other comprehensive

income, before tax 94,574 617002
. Net amount reclassified to the statement of income 8 44,407 89216
Income tax eftect 22 28,381 81,113

98,060 (97,947)

Items that wiil never be reclassifıed to profit or Ioss
Re-measurement (Jasses) / gains on defıned beneflt Iiability 24 2,120 20,478
Revaluation of art objects and paintings - 14.868
Income tax effect 22 (375) (3,968)

1,145 31,378

Other comprehenslve income for the year, net of tax 99,805 (66,569)

Total camprehensive Income for the yaar 3,348,140 2,623,615

Total comprehensive ıncome attibutable to:
Equity holders of the parent (total) 3,348,074 2,623,564
Non-controlling interest (total) 66 51

The accompanying notes set cut on pages 6 to 89 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2016
(Amounts expressed in Lhousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

AltlbuübIetoegvity holdeıs of the pattıt
Other Retaıned

Share reseıves eamıngs
premlum (Note 28> (Nde 28)

535,679 955,566 15,569,521

(66.569) 2.690,133

(400,000)

(110.512)

17,748,148

The accompanying notes set out on pages 6 ta 89 tanı an integral part of these consolidated fınancial statements.

Balance et Januaıy 1,2015

5 ha re
Nota capitaı

4,286, 580

Total comprehensive income for ilie year -

Nan.
controlııng Totaı

Totaı Interest equlty

21,347,351 460 21,347,811

2.623.564 51 2.623,615

(400.000) (41) (400,041)Dividends paid - . -

Transfer ta statutoıy reserves and ta
retained eanıngs 26 . - 110.512

Baıance et December 31, 2015 4,286,580 5J5,679 999,508 23,570,915 470 23,511,385

Total camprehensive income for the year - - 99,805 3,248,269 2,348,074 65 3,348.140

Dividends paid - - - - (35) (35)
Transfer ta statutory resewes and ta

retained earnhgs 26 . . 96220 (96,220) . . -

Baıance et December 31, 2016 4,286,580 535,679 1,195,533 20,901,191 26,918,989 501 26,919,490
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2016
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL un(ess otherwise indicated,)

Docember 31, Docombor 31,
Nota 2016 2015

Caah t Iows fmm operadng acdvides
Net pcotıt 3.248335 2690,184
Adjushuients for
Unreatized (gam, 055 on financtaJ assets heid for trading. net 283 241
Allowances for losses on Icans, investmenl securities and credit reiated commitments 33 2,362567 1.581.942
Measurement et derivative rınancial instrurnents at fa:r va’ue 8 (561.486) (503,970)
Share ot proht d associates and joint ventums 11-12 (65.362) (50.806)
Arnortization of other intangible assets 32 124,721 126 940
Depreciation d property and equipmenl 32 208,820 205,441
Reversai of impairrnent for propefly and eçuipment 15 (716) (113,417)
Pmvision for osrent ard defeued İncome taxes 22 781 .936 657,624
Other pmvisons 23 127,668 136,921
Pmvision ı (reversai) for retirement tenefıl obligatta’ts 24 24 514 (31,509)
0her liabilities 150 659 (26,432)
Uneamed commission intome 25 29,543 39.263
Dividend Income (6,173> (5,908)
interest Income, net 29 (8,016,967> (6,134,511)
interest paid (11,470,082> (10,731,614>
Interest received 18,462,374 16,874,571
EftecI of eachange rates on fınancing activities 4,994,209 3,865,301
Others. net (1,325,769) (250,175)

Cash flowa fmm operating profita before changes in operating asseta and ııabıııtıes 5,647,274 8,330,086

Change5 in operating assets and Iiabilities:
Net decrease / ilncrease) in cash baiances with central banka 303,681 (2,893,093)
Net decrease t ilncrease) ln bant and advances to banka (160,761) (159,037)
Net decrease t (increase) in trading securities 30,591 24,791
Net decrease / (Lncrease) in bana and advances ta custamers 27,845,470) (29,759,543)
Net (increase) t decrease in other assets (1,520,682) (687,745)
Net increase/ (decrease) in deposits trom banks (1,586,105) 6,699,515
Net (decrease) / increase in customer depasits 24,287,842 19,856,052
Net increase / (decrease) in other tabiiities and provisbons 1,153,655 2,132,917
income tares paid (820,041) (400,323)

Net caslı fmm / (used ın) operating acdvitles 2.489,984 3.143,680

Cash flows fmm investlng actıvıtles

(Purchase of) propeflv and equipment 15 (215,561) (312,712)
Net book value of propedy and equipment disposed 94.580 80,733
(Purchase of) intangible assets, net 14 (179,700) (187,093)
(Purchase of) held-ta-matuntv securıties 10 <1.703,125) (913.249)
Redemption or sabe of held-to-maturıty securitles 10 283 389 220,904
Purehase of) avaibatle-for-sabe semgıties 10 (14,426,408) (20.576,955)

Sa!e of redemptıon of ava:iabie-for-saie seailtties 10 16,765 939 15,667,840
OMdends received 6,173 5,908

Not (used in) invest]ng acuvıdes 626,257 (6,014.654)

Cash tbows from financing acdvttles
(Repayrnent5 of) bofmwed funds and debt seoırties (9.141,606) (7,848 513)
Proceeds fmm boncwed funds and debt teaadies 10.594,690 8,972,835
Dividend paid (37) (400,041)

Net cash t,’om / (used in) financing activtlles 1.453,047 723.951

Net lncrease / (decrease) in cash and cash equlvalents 4,568,318 (2,146,593)

Erecrs of foreign eachange mba changes on cash and cash equivabents 1,351.079 1 .21 6.165

Caah and caah equivaients at begir,r.:ng of yeaj’ 5 10,236.563 11.167,393

Cash and cash egu(vabents aL end of yaar 5 16,161,562 10.236,565

The accampanyng notes set out on pages 6 (o 89 form an integrai pad of these consoıidated financiaı stabements.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

1. General information

Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş. (“YKB”, the “Parent Bank” or the “Bank’ or together with its subsidiaries it
is referred to as “the Group” in these consolidated financial statements) was established with the
permission of the Council of Ministers of the Republic of Turkey No. 3/6710 on September 9, 1944 as
a private capital commercial bank, authorized to perform ali banking, economic, financial and
commercial activities which are allowed by Turkish laws. The statute of the Bank has not changed
since its incorporation. The Group provides retail, corporate and private banking, credit cards, leasing,
factoring and investment management seMces. The Group has operations in Turkey, the
Netherlands, Azerbaijan, Russia and Malta.

The Group’s controlling parentwith 81.80% of shareholding is Koç Finansal Hizmetler A.Ş. (“KFS”), a
joint venture of UniCredit Group (“UCG”) and Koç Group. KFS was established as a financial holding
company on March 16, 2001 to combine Koç Group financial services companies under one
organization. As of October 22, 2002, Koç Group established a strategic partnership with UCG over
KFS.

The Bank’s shares have been traded on the Istanbul Stock Exchange (‘İSE”) since 1987. As of
December 31, 2016, 18.20% of the shares of the Bank are publicly traded (2015 — 18.20%). The
Bank’s publicly traded shares are traded on ISE and the representatives of these shares. Global
Depository Receipts are quoted on the London Stock Exchange.

At December 31, 2016, the Group has 19,419 employees (2015 - 19,345 employees). The Bank has
935 branches operating in Turkey and 1 branch in overseas (2015 — 999 branches operating in
Turkey, 1 branch in overseas) and 18,366 employees (2015- 18,262 employees).

The Bank is registered in lstanbuJ, Turkey at the following address: Yapı Kredi Plaza D Blok, Levent
34330, Istanbul, Turkey.

These consolidated fınancial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on March 7, 2017.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to alI the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

A. Basis of preparation

The consolidated fınancial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis; except for
available-for-sale investments, derivative financial instruments, other financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated as hedged items in qualifying fair value hedge relationships, art objects
and paintings in property and equipment which are revalued and fınancial liabilities designated at fair
value which have alI been measured at fair value.

The carrying values of recognized assets that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and otherwise
carried at amortized cost, are adjusted to record changes in fair value attributable to the risks that are
being hedged.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting poiicies <continued)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with
international Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the international Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).

The Bank maintains its books of accounts and prepares its statutory financial statements in Turkish
Lira in accordance with the Banking Act No. 5411 (“Banking Act”), which is effective from November 1,
2005, the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), the Turkish Tax LegisJation, the “Regulation on the
Principles and Procedures Regarding Banks’ Accounting Applications and Safeguarding of
Documents” published in the Offlcial Gazette No. 26333 dated November 1, 2006 by the Banking
Regulation and Supervision Agency (“BRSA”)which refersto “Turkish Accounting Standards” <“TAS”)
and “Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”> issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and
Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”) and other decrees, notes and explanations related to the
accounting and fınancial reporting principles (alI “Turkish Accounting Standards” or “TAS”) published
by the BRSA. The subsidiaries maintain their books of accounts based on statutory rules and
regulations applicable in theirjurisdiction. Consolidated financial statements are derived from statutory
financial statements with adjustments and reclassiflcations for the purpose of fair presentation in
accordance with !FRS.

Presentation of financial statements

The Group presents its statement of fınancial position broadly in order of Iiquidity. An anaiysis
regarding recovery or settlement within 12 months after the statement of financial position date
(current) and more than 12 months after the statement of financial position date (non-current) is
presented in Note 4.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated fınancial statements as at
December 31, 2016 are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the prior year, except for the adoption of new standards and amendments to standards,
including any consequential amendments to other standards summarized below. The effects of these
standards and related amendments on the Group’s fınancial position and performance have been
disclosed in the related notes.

Standards issued but not yet eftective and not early adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning
after January 1,2016; however, the Group has not applied the following new or amended standards in
preparing these consolidated financial statements.

IFAS 9 Financial !nstruments

in JuIy 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial lnstruments. The final version of
IFRS 9 brings together alI three aspects of the accounting for fınancial instruments project:
ciassification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is built on a logical, single
ciassification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business model in which
they are managed and their cash fiow characteristics. Built upon this is a forward-looking expected
credit loss model that wiil result in more timely recognition of ban losses and is a single model that is
applicable to alI fınancial instruments subject to impairment accounting.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL uniess otherwise indicated.)

2. Summaıy of significant accounting policies (continued)

in addition, IFRS 9 addresses the so-called ‘own credit issue, whereby banks and others book gains
through profit or Ioss as a result of the value of their own debt faliing due to a decrease in credit
worthiness when they have elected to measure that debt at fair value. The Standard aiso includes an
improved hedge accounting model to befter link the economics of risk management with its accounting
treatment. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with eariy
appiication permitted by applying ali requirements of the standard.

The Group 5 assessing the potential impact on its consolidated fınancial statements resulting from the
appiication of IFRS 9.

Giyen the nature of the Group’s operations, this standard is expected to have an impact on the
Group’s fınancial statements. in particular, caicuiation of impairment of financial instruments on an
expected eredit Ioss basis is expected to resuit in a change in the overali ievel of impairment
aiiowances.

İFRS 15 Revenue (rom Contracts with Customers:

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recognized. it repiaces existing revenue recognition guidance, inciuding IAS 18 Revenue,
IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyaity Programmes.

IFRS 15 wili be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with eariy
adoption permitted.

The Group is assessing the potentiai impaat on its consolidated fınancial statements resulting from the
appiication of IFRS 15.

The foliowing new or amended standards are not expected to have a signifıcant impact of the Group’s
consolidated fınanciai statements:

• IFRS 16 Leases
• AS 12 income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

(Amendments)
• AS 7 Statement of Cash Fiows (Amendments)
• IFRS 2 Ciassifıcation and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

(Amendments)
• IFRS 4 insurance Contracts (Amendments)
• AS 40 investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments)
• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

B. Consolidation

The consolidated fınancial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its
subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2016. The financial statements of the Bank’s
subsidiaries (including the structured entity that the Bank consolidates) are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Bank, using consistent accounting policies.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries including the structured entity are investees controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an investee it it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and Iiabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting gam
and Ioss is recognised in profit or Ioss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identiflable net
assets at the acquisition date.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a Ioss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions.

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but oniy to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated fınancial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of signiflcant accounting policies (continued)

The Group does not have signiflcant restrictions on its ability to access or use its assets and settle its
liabilities other than those resulting from the supeMsory frameworks within which banking subsidiaries
operate. The supeMsory frameworks require banking subsidiaries to keep certain Ievels of regulatory
capital and Iiquid assets, limit their exposure to other parts of the Group and comply with other ratios.
The carrying amount of banking subsidiaries’ assets and Iiabilities are TL 9226,298 and TL 7482,421
respectively (2015: TL 7,532,639 and TL 6156,747 respectively) before intra-group eliminations.

The list of principal subsidiaries at December 31, 2016 is as follows:

Country ot Nature ot
Name of subsidlary IncorporaUon buslness

Yapı Kredi Finansal KiralamaA.0. Turkey Leasing
Yapı Kredi Faktoring A.Ş. Turkey Factoring
Yapı Kredi Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. Turkey Porttolio management
Yapı Kredi Yatırım Menkul Değeıier A.Ş. Turkey lnvestment management
Yapı Kredi Bank Nededand N.V. Nethedands Banking
Stching Custcdy Servıces YKB Netherlar.ds Custody services
Yapı Kredi Bank Mcscow Russia 8anking
Yapı Kredi Holding 3V. Nelhehands Financial holding
Yapı Kredi Azertaijan Azerbaijan Banking
Yapı Kredi lnvest LLC Azerbaijan lnvestment management
Yapı Kredi Malta Malla Banking
Enternasyonel Turizm Yatırım AŞ, (‘Enternasyonel”) Turkey lnvestment
Agro.san Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Agro-San’) Turkey Agricullural chemicals
Yapı Kredi Kültür Sanat Yayıncılık Tic. ve San. A.Ş. Turkey Cutture / art publicalions
Yapı Kredi Diversirred Payment Rights Finance Co.ılı Cayman lslands Structured entity (‘SE’)
Yapı Kredi Teknoloji A.Ş. ı2ı Turkey İT Development

2016 2015
Controİ Eftective Central Etfectİve

Name otsubsİdİary rates <‘4) rates (%) mtes (%) rates <‘1,)

Yapı Kredi Finansal KiralamaA.O. 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99
Yapı Kredi Faktonng A.Ş. 99.96 99.96 99.98 99.96
Yapı Kredi Podöy Yönehmi A.Ş. 9997 99.95 99,97 99.95
Yapı Kredi Yatırım Menkuİ DeğeflerA.Ş. 99.96 99.98 99.98 99.98
Yapı Kredi Bank Nederland N.V. 100.00 100.00 10000 100.00
Slichir.g Custody Servkes YKB 10000 100.00 100.00 100.00
Yapı Kredı Bank Moscow 10000 100.00 100.00 100.00
Yapı Kredi Holding 6V. 10000 100.00 100.00 100.00
Yapı Kredi Azertai1an 10000 100.06 100.00 100.00
Yapı Kredi lnvest LLC 100.00 100.00 100_on 100.00
Yapı Kredi Malta 100.00 100.00
Enlernasyonel 99.99 99.96 99.99 99.96
Agro-san 100.00 99.99 100.00 99.99
Yapı Kredi Kültür Sanat Yayıncılık rıc. ve San. A.Ş. 100.00 99.99 100.00 99.99
Yapı Kredi Diversifıed Payment Rights Finance Co.ılı
Yapı Kredi Teknoloji AŞ.12’ 100.00 100.00

<1) Yapı Kredi Diversirıed Payment Rights Finance Company 5 a structured entily established for YKB’s securitization transactions as
explained in Note 20. it is included in the consolıdat,on although YKB or any of its affıliates does not have any shareholding interest in
this company.

(2) İn accordance wilh the decision taken in the Board of Directors Meeting held on January 19, 2015, the Bank has eslablished a company
which operates in ınformation technotogy sector and provides software development, research/devetopment and consuttancy activities in
Istanbul Teknik UnNeısity ARI Teknokeni.

(b) Associates

Associates are ali entities over which the Group has significant infiuence but not control. An
investment in associates is accounted for using the equity method of accounting and is initially
recognized at cost. The Group’s investment in associate includes goodwill <net of any accumulated
impairment bas) identifled on acquisition.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unıess otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of signirıcant accounting policies (continued)

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition proflts or osses is recognized in the statement of
income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognized in the Group’s equity.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behaif of the associate.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and ta associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. AccounUng policies for associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The details of the associates at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

2016 2015
Country of Nature of Orıginal Controı Effective Contmı Eftecüve

Name of assocıate Incorporation busıness currency rate (%) rate (%) rate (%) rate (‘1.)

Banque de Commerce et de Switzedand Banking CHF 3067 30.67 30.67 30.67
Placements ÇBanque de
Cam merce’)

Atianz Yaşam ve Emekitlik A.Ş. Turkey Life Insurance TL 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00

(c) Joint ventures

The joint venture is an entity in whose capital the Group participates and has joint control. The joint
venture is a real estate investment trust (“REİT”) and operates according to special legislation with
permission and license, is established in Turkey and the related joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method.

The Group’s share of its joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the statement
of income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognized in the Group’s
equity. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds ta
interest in the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behaif of the joint venture.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the joint venture. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of joint
venture have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The details of the joint venture at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

2016 2015
Country of Nature of odgınal Control Eltecüve Controı Eftecüve

Name orJoınt venture ıncorporauon busınese currency rate (%) rate (%) rate <‘4) rate (‘la)

Yapı Kredi Koray Gayrimenkul
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş Turkey REİT TL 30.45 30.45 30.45 3045

<d) Fund management

The Group manages and administers open-ended mutual funds. Determining whether the Group
controls such a fund usualiy focuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic interests of the
Group in the fund (comprising any carried interests and expected management fees) and the
investors’ rights to remove the fund manager. As a result, after evaluating the aggregate economic
interests in funds and the rights to remove the fund manager, the Group has concluded that it acts as
agent for the investors in al) cases, and therefore has not consolidated these funds. Information about
the Group’s fund management is set out in Note 39.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL untess otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of signiflcant accounting policies (continued)

C. Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

tenis included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates <“the functional currency”y

The consolidated financial statements are presented in TL, which is the Bank’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency, and alI values are rounded ta the nearest thousands, except when
otherwise indicated.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and Josses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and iabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow and net investment hedges.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of ali the group entities that have a functionai currency difterent from
the presentation currency <none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) are
transiated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and Iiabibties for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
exchange rate prevailing at the date of that statement of financial position,

<ii) income and expenses for each statement of income are translated at average exchange rates.

Exchange differences resulting from the difterent rates applied for the transiation of the statement of
financial position and the statement of income as weli as differences arising from the translation of the
portion of the net asset value in foreign entities pertaining to the Group are recognized as “currency
transiation differences / translation reserves” included in other reserves in equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings designated as hedges of such investments, are presented in equity.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognized in the income statement
as part of the gam or Ioss on the sale.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

D. Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, shareholders, companies controlled by or
afflhiated with thern and other companies within the Koç Group and the UniCredit Group as weil as key
managernent personnel are considered and referred to as related parties (Note 38).

E. Due from other banks

Amounts due from other hanks are recorded when the Group advances money to counterparty banks
with na intention of trading the resulting unquoted non-derivative receivable due on fıxed or
determinable dates. Arnounts due from other banks are carried at amortized cost,

F. Financial assets and Iiabilities at fair value through profit or ioss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets heid for trading and those designated at fair
value through profıt or loss at inception. Financial assets and financial liabilities are designated at fair
value through profıt or Ioss when doing 50 signiflcantly reduces measurernent inconsistencies that
would arise if the related derivatives were treated as heid for trading and the underlying financial
instruments such as loans and advances ta customers or banks and debt securities in issue were
carried at amortized cost.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction
with designated financial assets or financial Iiabilities are included in net trading, hedging and fair
value income and loss.

A financial asset is classifıed as heid for trading if it is acquired or incurred principaliy for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identifled financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-terrn
profit-taking. Derivatives are alsa categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as
hedging instrurnents.

Financial assets or Iiabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initialiy recognized and
subsequently re-measured at fair value. AlI related realized and unrealized fair value gains and losses
are included in net trading incorne. Interest earned or paid whilst holding financial assets or liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss is reported as interest incorne or expense.

AlI purchases and sales of trading assets that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or rnarket convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recognized at the settlement
date, which is the date that the asset is delivered to/by the Group. Any change in fair value of the
trading assets to be received during the period between the trade date and the settlement date is
recognized in profıt or loss.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unleas otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of signifıcant accounting poiicies (continued)

G. lnvestment securities

investment securities are classifıed into the following two categorles: held-to-maturity and available
for-sale assets. investment secudties with fıxed maturity, where management has both the intent and
the ability to hold ta maturity are classified as held-to-maturity. investment securities intended to be
heid for an indefinite period of time, which may be said in response to needs for liquidity or changes in
interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices, or client’s seMcing activity are ciassifıed as available
for-sale. Management determines the appropriate ciassification of its investments at the time af the
purchase.

Investment securities ara initialiy recognized et fair vaiue which is the cash consideration including
transaction costs. Available-for-sale fınancial assets ara subsequentiy re-measured at fair vaiue.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair vaiue of securities ciassifled as available-for sale are
recognized as other comprehensive income in tevaluation reserve - available-for-sale investments”
included in other reserves, until the fınancial asset is derecognized or impaired et which time the
cumulative gam or ioss previausiy recognized in equity is transferred ta the income statement.

Heid-to-maturity investments are carried et amortized cost using the effective interest method, Jess
any provision for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium an acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

There ara na financial assets that were previously ciassifled as heid-to-maturity but cannat be subject
ta this ciassification for two years due ta e breach of ciassifıcatian principles. in accordance with IAS
39, the sale or reciassifıcation to available-for-sele portfoho of insignifıcent emount of fınancial assets,
sale er reciassification ta available for sale portfoho af financial assets which ere ciose ta maturity, or
sale or reciassificetian ta available for sale portfoho of assets as a resuit of significant increase in the
risk weights of heid ta meturity investments used for reguietary risk-based capital purposes wiil not
result in tainting.

Equity securities ciassifled as available-for-sale are carried et fair vaiues except equity securities
whose fair value can not be reliabiy measured, which are measured et cost after deduction for any
impairment (Note 10).

Interest earned whiist holding investment securities is reported as interest income. Dividends eamed
whilst holding evailable-far-sale financial investments ara recognized in the statement of income when
the right of the payment has been established.

Ali purchases and seles of investment securities ara recognized at the settlement date. which is the
dete the esset is delivered to/by the Group. Any change in fair vaiue of the evailable-for-sele secuhties
ta be received during the period between the trade date and the settlement date is recognized in other
comprehensive income.

Unsettled trensactions are recorded es off stetement of financial position commitments until the
settlement date.

H. Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities soid subject ta linked repurchase agreements (urepos) are not derecognized from the
statement of financiel pasition es the Group retains substantially ali the risks and rewards of
ownership. The corresponding cesh received is recognized in the consolidated statement of financiel
position as an asset with a corresponding obhgation ta return it, including accrued interest as a liebility
within deposits from benks end customer deposits, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as
a Joan to the Group. The difference between the sele end repurchase price is treated as interest
expense and amorüzed over the life of repo agreements using the effective interest method.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (contİnued>
(Amounts expressed in thausands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

On the other hand securiües purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repo”) are not
recognized in the statement of financial positian. The amaunt paid, including accrued interest, is
recarded as loans and advances ta banks in the statement of financial posiüan. The difference
between the purchase and resale prices is recarded in “interest incame” and is accrued over the life of
the agreernent using the effective interest method.

1. Loans and advances to customers

Laans and advances to customers are recarded when the Group advances maney to purchase ar
originate an unquoted non-dehvative receivable from a customer due an flxed or determinable dates
and has na intentian af trading the receivable. Laans and advances to custamers are carried at
amortized cost, ess allawance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The losses arising from impairrnent are recognized in the income statement in “impairment losses
on Joans, investment securities and credit related camrnitments”.

The Group holds apprapriate callateral for each ban according ta its specified risk and the relevant
BRSA camrnuniquĞs. The collateral strategy differentiates between collateral types an the basis of
customers’ ratings and ban terms. bn general, the types af collaterais are cash callaterais, mortgages,
guarantees, promissory notes, securities issued by the Turkish Treasury Undersecretariat and Central
Bank and pledges an assets.

J. lmpairmentoffinancial assets

Financial assets carried at amortized cost

The Graup assesses at each statement af financial pasitian date whether there is any objective
evidence that a fınancial asset or a graup af financial assets 5 impaired. Impairment basses are
recognized in profıt ar tass when incurred as a resubt of ane ar mare events (bass events°) that
accurred after the initial recagnitian of the financial asset and which have an irnpact an the amaunt ar
timing of the esümated future cash flaws of the fınancial asset or group af fınancial assets that can be
reliabby estimated. If the Graup determines that na objective evidence exists that impairment was
incurred for an individuabiy assessed financial asset, whether signiflcant or not, it incbudes the asset in
a group of fınancial assets with simibar credit risk characteristics and coblectively assesses thern for
irnpairment. The primary factars that the Graup considers when a financial asset is impaired is its
averdue status and reabizabibity af rebated colbateral, if any. The fabbawing other principal criteria are
alsa used ta determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment bass has accurred:

- any instalment is overdue and the bate payment cannot be attributed ta a debay caused by the
settlement systems;

- the barrawer experiences a signifıcant fınancial difficulty as evidenced by barrawer’s fınancial
infarmation that the bank obtains;

- the borrower cansiders bankruptcy ara fınancial reorganization;
- there is adverse change in the payment status of the borrower as a result of changes in the

national ar bacal econamic conditions that impact the barrawer.

The Graup uses a set af abligatory and judgement-based triggers that can bead ta a classifıcation as
impaired. The fınal decisian an impaired classifıcatian is always subject ta expert judgement.
Obligatory triggers include bankruptcy, financial restructuring and 90 days’ past due. Judgement
based triggers incbude elements such as <but are not limited ta) negative equity, regular payrnent
prabbems, irnproper use of credit bines, legal action by ather creditors. These triggers are
complementary ta the judgement af an expert.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expre5şed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of
similar credit risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant ta the estimation of future cash
flows for groups af such assets by being indicative of the debtors abiiity ta pay ali amounts due
according to the contractual terms ot the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are coilectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of the contraatual cash flows of the assets and the experience of management
in respect of the extent to which amounts wilI become overdue as a result of past bas events and the
success of recovery of overdue amounts. Past experience is adjusted on the basis of current
observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect past periods and to
remove the effects of past conditions that do not exist currentiy.

The Group adopted the Incurred But Not Reported (“IBNR’) model for performing loans with intrinsic
elements such as loss detection period (“LDP”) and expert views. IBNR impairments on bana
represent the provisions that are provided for the transactions where loss events have already
accurred, but have not been reported. in such cases provision is created in such proportion to the
exposure that reflects the amount of bosses that have been incurred as a result of the past but not
reported events.

lmpairment losses are always recognized through an allowance account to write down the asset’s
carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the original effective interest rate of the asset. If the ban has a
variabie interest rate, the discount rate for measudng any impairment boss is the current eftective
interest rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized
financial asset reflects the cash flaws that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and
seliing the collateral, whether or not forecbosure is probable.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectiveiy ta an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized impairment bas is reversed by
adjusting the albowance account through profit or loss.

Uncollectibbe assets are written-off against the related impairment loss provision after alI the necessary
procedures ta recover the asset have been compbeted and the amount of the loss has been
determined.

Financial assets classified as available for sale

For available-for-sabe financial investments, the Group assesses at each statement of financial
position date whether there is objective evidence that an investment is impaired.

in the case of debt instruments classifıed as available-for-sabe, the Bank assesses individualiy whether
there is objective evidence of impairment based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at
amortized cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative ioss measured as the
difference between the amortized cost and the current fair vabue, iess any impairment boss on that
investment previously recognized in the income statement. Future interest income is based on the
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used ta discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment Ioss. The interest income is recorded as part of
‘Interest income’. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the
increase can be objectively rebated ta a oredit event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognized in the income statement, the impairment Ioss is reversed through the income statement.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes ta the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

in the case of equity investments ciassifled as avaiiabie-for-saie, objective evidence wouid also
include a ‘signiflcant’ or ‘prolonged’ deciine in the fair value of the investment beiow its cost. Where
there is evidence of impairment, the cumuiative ioss measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment Ioss on that investment previousiy
recognized in the income statement - is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement.
Impairment iosses on equity investments are not reversed through the income statement; increases in
the fair value after impairment are recognized directly in equity.

K. Derivative financial instwments

Dedvatives are initialiy recognized at [air vaiue on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The fair vaiues of derivative financial
instruments that are quoted in active markets are determined from quoted market prices in active
markets including recent market transactions. The fair values of fınancial derivatives that are not
quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques, inciuding discounted cash flow
modeis. Where valuation techniques (for example, modeis) are used to determine [air values, they are
validated and periodicaliy reviewed. Fair values of derivatives are carried as assets when positive and
as liabiiities when negative. The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is
the transaction price (i.e. the fair vaiue of the consideration giyen or received). Derivative flnanciai
instruments are ciassifled as heid for trading and hedging.

Certain derivative transactions, even though providing effective economic hedges under the Group
risk management position, do not quaiify for hedge accounting under the specifıc rules in IAS 39, and
are therefore treated as derivatives heid for trading with fair value gains and losses reported in the
income statement.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as credit iinked notes (“CLN”),
constant maturity swaps ÇtMS”), are treated as separate derivatives when their economic
characteristics and risks ara not cJoseiy reiated to those of the host contract and the host contract is
not carried at fair vaiue through profit or Ioss. These embedded dehvatives are separateiy accounted
for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in the income statement uniess the Group
chooses to designate the hybdd contracts at [air value through profıt or ioss.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative in
accordance wiih RS 39, if and oniy it

- the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not cioseiy related to the
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract;

- a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and

- the hybrid (combined) instrument is not measured at fair vaiue with changes in fair value
recognized in profit or Ioss (i.e. a derivative that is embedded in a financial asset or fınancial
iiabibty at fair value through profit or Ioss is not separated).

If an embedded derivative is separated, the host contract shali be accounted for under AS 39 if it is a
financial instrument and in accordance with other appropriate standards if it is not a financial
instrument.
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of signiflcant accounting policies (continued)

L. Hedge accounting

The Group makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures to interest rate and foreign
currency risks, inciuding exposures arising fram forecast transactians and flrm commitments. in order
to manage particular risks, the Graup applies hedge accounting for transactians that meet the
specifıed criteria. The Graup dacuments at inception of the transaction the reiationship between
hedging instruments and hedged items, as weil as their risk management objectives and the strategy
for undertaking various hedge transactians. The Group also documents its assessment, bath at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the instruments that are used in hedging transactions
are highly effective in offsetting ohanges in values of hedged items.

Net investment hedge

The eftective partion of the foreign exchange differences of borrowings that are designated and qualify
as net investment hedges are recognized in equity. The gam or loss relating ta the ineffective portion
is recagnized immediateiy in the incame statement. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are
included in the income statement when the foreign operation iş disposed of.

Fafr value hedge

Changes in the fair value af derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are
recorded in the incame statement, tagether with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or
Iiability that are attributable ta the hedged risk. Effective changes in fair value af interest rate swaps
and reiated hedged items are reflected in “net trading, hedging and fair value incame”. Any
ineffectiveness is alsa recorded in “net trading, hedging and fair value income”.

If the hedge na longer meets the criteria for hedge accaunting, the adjustment ta the carrying amount
of a hedged item for which the effective interest methad is used is amortized ta prafit or oss aver the
periad ta maturity.

Cash 110w hedge

For designated and quaiifying cash flow hedges, the eftective partian af the gam ar ioss an the
hedging instrument is initialiy recagnized directly in equity in the ‘Cash flow hedge’ reserve (hedging
reserves are included in ather reserves). The ineffective portion af the gam ar lass an the hedging
instrument is recagnized immediateiy in ‘net trading income’.

When the hedged cash flaw affects the income statement, the gam ar iass on the hedging instrument
is recorded in the carrespanding income ar expense line af the incame statement. When a hedging
instrument expires, ar iş said, terminated, exercised, ar when a hedge na langer meets the criteria for
hedge accounting, any cumulative gam ar loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is
recagnized when the hedged transaction is ultimateiy recagnized in the income statement. When a
farecast transaction is na langer expected ta accur, the cumulative gam ar Iass that was reported in
equity iş immediateiy transferred ta the incame statement,
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Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL uniess otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of signiflcant accounting policies (continued)

M. Property and equipment

Ali property and equipment are carried at cost iess accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment if any, except art objects and paintings. The Group adopted a revaluation method for its art
objects and paintings in property and equipment in accordance with AS 16 in 2014.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-iine method to write down the cost of such assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful life as foiiows:

Buildings 50 years
Furniture and flxtures and motor vehicies 5 years
Owıce equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years, or over the period of the lease term if iess than 5 years

The residual values and useful hves of the assels are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, al each
statement of financial position date.

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumslances indicate Ihat the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An assets carrying amount
is written down immediateiy to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimaled recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value Iess cost
to seli and vaiue in use.

Gains and iosses on disposai of property and equipment are determined by comparing net proceeds
wilh the carrying amount and recognized in “other operating income/expense” in the income
statement.

Expenses for the repair of property and equipment are oharged against income. They are, however,
capitahzed if they result in an enlargement or substantiai improvement of the respective assets.

Leasehold improvements comprise prirnariiy the capitallzed branch refurbishrnent costs.

N. Other intangibie assets

(1) Computer software

Acquired computer software bcenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortized on the basis of the expected useful lives
(not exceeding a period of fıve years).

(ü) Trademarks and customer relationships reiated intangibles

intangible assels such as trademarks and customer relationships reiated intangibles acquired in a
business combination are carded at fair value at the acquisition dale. The fair value of an intangible
asset refiecls market expectations about the probabihty that the future economic benefits embodied in
the asset wiili fiow to the Group. in other words, the eftect of probability is reflected in the fair vaiue
measurement of the intangible asset. The Group recognizes at the acquisition dale separateiy from
goodwiili an intangible asset of the acquiree it the asset’s fair value can be measured rehabiy,
irrespective of whether the asset had been recognized by the acquiree before the business
combination. Those intangibie assets are amortized using the straight-hne method over their usefui
hves, which have been assessed as 10 years.

(19)



Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolldated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of signiflcant accounting policies (continued)

(Yı) Other intangible assets

Expenditures to acquire patents, rights and licenses are capitalized and amortized using the straight
line method over their useful lives of 5 years or licencing periods.

0. Accounting for leases

A lease is classifıed as a fınance lease if it transfers substantially ali the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. A lease is classifıed as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantialiy ali the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases:

(1) Group company is the lessor

When assets are said under a finance lease, the total amount of the lease payments is recognized as
a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present vaiue of the receivable is
recognized as unearned fınance income. Lease income is recognized over the term of the lease using
the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

(10 Group company is the Iessee

Assets acquired under finance lease agreements are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the
fair value of the leased asset, which is the amount of cash consideration giyen for the leased asset.
Lease payments are treated as compdsing capital and interest eiements; the capital element is treated
as reducing the capitalized obhgation under the lease and the interest element is charged to income.
Depreciation on the leased asset is aiso charged to income on a straight-Iine basis over the useful life
of the asset,

Operating leases:

(0 Group company is the lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially ali the risks and benefıts of ownership of the
asset are ciassified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negatiating operating leases are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

ii) Group company is the lessee

Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially ali the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased items are operaling leases. Operating lease payments, including
prepayments (net of any incentives received from the lessor), are recognized as an expense in the
income statement on a straight bne basis over the lease term. Contingent rentais payable are
recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

P. Goodwil(

The excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifıabie
assets, iiabiiities or contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary at the dale of acquisition of control
is recorded as goodwilil and represents a payment made by the acquirer in anticipation of future
economic benefıts from assets that are not capable of being individually identifıed and separateiy
recognized. The acquirer also recognizes assets Ihat are capable of being individualiy identifıed and
separateiy recognized, intangible assets (e.g. credit card brand value, deposit base and customer
portfoiio) and contingent babihties at fair vaiue, irrespective of whether the asset had been recognized
by the acquiree before the business combination; (if they can be distinguished from goodwili and if the
assets fair value can be measured rehabiy).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

in line with “international Financial Reporting Standard for Business Combinations” (“IFRS 3”),
goodwill is not subject to depreciation but is tested annualiy or marc frequently for impairment and
carried at cost Iess accumuiated impairment losses, if any, in line with “international Accounting
Standard for impairment on Assets” (“IAS 36’).

Q. Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. Transaction costs directly
aftributabie to the acquisition form part of the acquisition costs. The non-contrailing interest is
measured as the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identiflable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages are accounted for as separate steps. Any additional
acquired share of interest does not aftect previously recognized goodwiil.

A business combination involving entities under common control of KFS is a business combination in
which alI of the combining enüües are ultimateiy controHed by KFS both before and after the business
combination, and that control is not transitory. in that respect, the Group considers legal mergers
arising between entities ulUmately controlled by KFS as business combinations under common
control. On the other hand, business combinations involving entities under common control are
scoped out of IFRS 3 and there is no other guidance on how ta account for such transactions in
current IFRS literature.

As there is an absence of a standard or an interpretation that specificaliy applies ta business
combinations involving entities under common control, the Bank management, in accordance with IAS
8, uses its judgment and developed and applied an accounting policy that the management believes
results in information that is relevant to the economic decision-making needs of users and reflected
the economic substance of transactions and not merely their legal form. in making its judgment in
accordance with IAS 8, management considered US GAAP as a framework with a similar conceptual
framework and applied pooling of interest method applicable under US GAAP in accounting for the
business combinations involving entities under common control of KFS.

Since business combinations involving entities under the comman control of KFS result in a singie
combined entity, a single uniform set of accounting policies is adopted. Therefore. the combined entity
recognizes the assets, Iiabilities and equity of the combining entities at their existing carrying amounts
adjusted oniy as a result of conforming the combining entities’ accounting policies and applying those
policies to alI periods presented. There is na recagnition af any new goodwill or negative goodwiil.
Similarly, the effects of ali transactions between the cambining entities, whether occurring before or
after the merger, are ehminated in preparing the fınancial statements af the combined entity.

Expenditures incurred in relation ta legal mergers are recognized as expenses in the period in which
they are incurred.

(21)



Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amountş expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

R. Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether there is any impairment indication on the asset.
When an indication of impairment exists, the Group estimates the recoverable values of such assets.
Impairment exists if the carrying value of an asset or a cash generating unit is greater than its
recoverable amount which is the higher of value in use or fair value Iess costs to seIJ. Value in use is
the present value of the future cash fiows expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating
unit. An impairment Ioss is recognized immediateiy in the consolidated statement of income. A cash
generating unit is the smallest identiflable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are argeiy
independent of the cash flows from other assets or group of assets. An impairment Ioss recognized in
prior periods for an asset (excluding goodwill) is reversed if the subsequent increase in the asset’s
recoverable amount is caused by a specific event since the last impairment Ioss was recognized. The
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount,
nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment Ioss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized as income in
the consolidated fınancial statements.

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

S. Financial Iiabilities

Financial Iiabilities including deposits from banks, customer deposits and other borrowed funds are
recognized initialiy at cost. Subsequently, financial Iiabilities are stated at amortized cost, using the
effective interest rate, except for fınancial Iiabilities designated at fair value. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate.

T. Income taxes

(1) Current income tax

Income tax payable (receivable) is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax Iaw in the respective
jurisdiction and is recognized as an expense (income) for the period except to the extent that current
tax relates to items that are charged or credited in other comprehensive income or directly to equity.
The tax rates and tax Iaws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted by the statement of fınancial position date.

Taxes other than on income are recorded within operating expenses (Note 32).

(ü) Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax is provided in fuli, using the Iiability method, on ali temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and Iaws) that have been enacted or substantiveiy
enacted by the date of the statement of financial position and are expected to appiy when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settied.

The principal temporary differences arise from measurement of financial assets and iiabilities at fair
value, provision for ban impairment, provision for employment termination benefıts and unused
investment albowances.
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2. Summary of signiflcant accounting policies (continued)

Deferred incame tax liabilities and assets are recognized when it is probable that the future economic
benefit resulting from the reversal of temporary differences wilI fiow ta or from the Group. Deferred
income tax assets resulting fram temporary diflerences, carry forward of unused tax losses and
unused tax credits are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable protit wili be
available against which the deferred incame tax asset can be utilized (Note 22).

Deferred incame tax is provided on temporary difterences arising from investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Uming of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the difference wilI not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale investments and cash flow
hedges, which are recognized in other comprehensive income, is also recognized in the other
comprehensive income and subsequently in the consolidated income statement together with the
deferred gam or oss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are oftset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax Iiabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

U. Retirement benefit obligations

(ı’) Pension benefits transferable ta Sacial Security Institution (‘<SSI”)

Yapı ve Kredi Bankası Anonim Şirketi Mensupları Yardım ve Emekli Sandığı Vakfı (“the Fund°) is a
separate legal entity and a foundation recognized by an offlcial decree, providing alI qualified ‘1KB
employees with pension and post-retirement beneflts. This scheme is funded through payments of
both the employees and the employer as required by SSI Law Numbered 506 and are as follaws:

2016 2015
Empioyer Employee Empioyer Employee

(%) (%) <‘4) <‘4)

Retirement benefit conthbutions 11 9 11 9
Medical benefit contributions 7.5 5 7.5 5

The New Law was published in the Offlcial Gazette dated May 8, 2008, numbered 26870. With the
new law, the banks’ pension funds would be transferred to SSI within three years fram the date of
publication af the decree and this period could be extended for a maximum af two years on the
decision af the Council of Ministers. The transfer periad was extended for another two years with the
decision of the Council of Ministers No. 2011/1559 published in the Oftcial Gazette dated AphI 9,
2011. Accarding ta the “Amendment of Social Insurance and General Health Insurance Law No, 6283”
published in the Offlcial Gazette dated March 8, 2012, the Cauncil af Ministers was authohzed ta
increase the twa-year extension periad mentioned abave ta faur years. According ta the decision of
The Council of Ministers dated February 24, 2014, the transfer date was set as May 2015. The
Council af Ministers was authorized ta determine the transfer date of pension funds in accardance with
the last amendment in the first paragraph of the 2Oth pravisional article af Law Na. 5510 implemented
by the Law Na. 6645 on Amendment af the Occupatianal Health and Safety Law and Other Laws and
Decree Laws published in the Oftcial Gazette dated April 23, 2015 and numbered 29335,

The Graup’s abligation in respect af the Fund has been determined as the value of the payment that
wauld need ta be made ta 551 to settle the abligation at the statement of financial position date in
accardance with Temporary Article 20 of the “Law regarding the changes in Sacial Insurance and
General Health Insurance Law and ather related laws and regulations” (“New Law”) (Note 24). The
pensian disclasures set aut in Note 24 therefare reflect actuarial parameters and results in accordance
with the New Law pravisians.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The pension benefita transferable ta SSI are defined benefit plans and are calculated annualiy by an
independent actuary who is registered by the Undersecretadat af Treasury.

(ii) Defined contübution pians

The Bank’s subsidiaries in Turkey pay contributions to pubiiciy administered SSI an a mandatory
basis. Foreign subsidiaries contribute to the related government body for the pension scheme of its
employees in the country they are dorniciled. The Group has na further payrnent obiigations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when
they are due.

(ili) Resenıc for empioyment termination benefits

Provisian for ernployrnent termination benefıts represents the present value of the estimated total
provision of the future probable obiigation of the Group arising frorn the retirernent of employees
calculated in accordance with the Turkish Labour Law. in accordance with existing social legisiation
and Turkish Labour Law in Turkey, the Group is required to make iump-sum termination indemnities to
each employee whose employrnent is terminated due to retirement or for reasons otber than
resignation or misconduct and who has campleted at Jeast one year of service. Provision is made for
the present value of the defined benefit obiigation caiculated using the projected unit credit method. Ali
actuariai gains and losses stern frorn the re-rneasurements of defıned benefit obligation and are
recognized immediateiy in the other comprehensive incorne.

V. Provisions, contingent assets and contingent Iiabiiities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obiigation as a resuit of
past events, it is probable that an outfiow of resources wili be required to settle the obligation, and e
reliable estimate of the arnount can be made.

Where the effect of the time value of rnoney is material, provisions are measured at the present vaiue
of the expenditures expected to be required ta settle the obligation using e pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific ta the obligation.

Possible assets er obligations that arise fram past events and whose existence wiil be canfirmed oniy
by the occurrence or non-accurrence of one ar more uncertain future events not whoiiy within the
control of the Group are nat included in the consolidated financial statements and are treated as
contingent assets or liabilities.

Uncertain tax positions

The Graup’s uncertain tax positions are reassessed by rnanagement at every statement of financial
position date. Liabilities are recorded for incame tax positions that are deterrnined by management as
more hkely than not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positians were ta be chaHenged by
the tax authahties. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax iaws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the statement of financial pasition date and any known court or ather
ruhngs on such issues. Liabihties for penalties. interest and taxes other than on income are recognized
based on managemenUs best estirnate of the expenditure required to seftle the obligations at the
statement of financial position date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

W. Interest income and expense

Interest incame and expense are recognized in the income statement using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a
fınancial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant periad. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter periad ta the net
carrying amaunt of the fınancial asset ar fınancial Iiability. When calculating the effective interest rate,
the Group estimates cash flaws considering ali cantractual terms of the financial instrument but daes
not consider future credit lasses.

The calculatian includes ali fees paid or received between parties ta the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, incremental costs that are directly attributable ta the instrument and
ali ather premiums ar discaunts.

Once a fınancial asset or a group of simliar fınanciai assets has been written down as a resuit af an
impairment lass, interest income is recognized using the rate of interest used ta discount the future
cash flows for the purpase of measuring the impairment Ioss.

X. Fee and commission income and expense

Fees and commissions are generaily recagnized in the incame statement on an accruai basis over the
life af the transactian ta which they refer. Cammissian income and fees for certain banking services
such as import and expart-related services, clearing, brokerage and custady services are recarded as
incame at the time af effecting the transactians ta which they reiate.

Partfalia and other management, advisory and service fees are recagnized based on the appiicabie
service contracts.

Y. Share capital

(1) Share issuc casts

Incremental casts directiy attributable ta the issue of new shares orta the acquisitian of a business are
shown in equity asa deduction, net af tax, fram the praceeds.

(ii) Share premiam

When shares are issued, the excess of contributians received aver the nominal value af the shares
issued is recorded as share premium in equity.

<110 Dividends on ardinanj shares

Dividends on ardinary shares are recagnized in equity in the periad in which they are appraved by the
Campany’s shareholders. Dividends for the year that are deciared after the statement of financial
pasitian date are dealt with in the subsequent events nate.

Z. Acceptances

Acceptances camprise undertakings by the Group ta pay bilis of exchange drawn an custamers, if the
latter faiis ta meet their abiigation. Acceptances are accounted for as aff-statement af flnanciai positian
transactians.
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2. Summary of signifıcant accounting policies (continued)

AA. Other credit related commitments

in the normal course of business, the Group enters into other credit related commitments including
ban commitments, Ietters of credit and guarantees. These are reported as off-statement of financial
position items at their notional amounts and are assessed using the same criteria as originated bana
(Note 2.1). Specific provisions are therefore established when losses are considered probable and
recorded as other provisions. The provision for credit related commitments also covers osses from the
colbective assessment where the commitnıents are grouped using the internal modeis deveboped by
the Group stemming from the ciassification of credit related commitments into risk rating ciasses
based on the observation of a sehes of parameters related to the borrower and/or to the utilization of
the oan.

Financial guarantec contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a Ioss it incurs because a specifled debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such fınancial guarantees are giyen to banks,
financial institutions and other bodies on behaif of customers to secure bana, overdrafts and other
banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initialiy recognized in the fınancial statements at fair value on the date the
guarantee was giyen. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because
abJ guarantees are agreed on arm’s Iength terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to
the value of the guarantee obiigation. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s Iiabilities under
such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, bess amortization of fees recognized
in accordance with IAS 18, and the best estimate of the amount required to setüe the guarantee.
These estimates are determined based on experience of simibar transactions and history of past
bosses, suppbemented by the judgement of management. The fee income earned is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the Iiability relating to guarantees is
reported in the consolidated income statement within “impairment losses on boans, investment
securities and oredit related commitments.

AB. Oftseuing

Financial assets and Iiabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of fınancial
position when there is a current begaliy enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is
an intention to seftle on a net basis, or realize the asset and selle the liability simultaneously.

AC. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with original maturities Iess than 90 days incbuding
cash and balances with central banks excluding reserve requirements and loans and advances to
banks (Note 5).

AD. Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided ta the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person OF group that
albocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. Ali
transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s Iength basis, with intra-segment
revenue and costs being eliminated in head office. Income and expenses directiy associated with each
segment are included in determining business segment performance.

in accordance with IFRS 8, the Group has the following business segments: Retail banking, Corporate
and commerciai banking, Private banking and weaith management, foreign operations, domestic
operations, treasury asset babibty management and other.
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AE. Earnings per share

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated income statement are determined by dividing net
income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year concerned in Note 34.

AF. Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they are
approved by the Banks shareholders.

AG. Comparatives

Comparative figures are reclassifıed, where necessary, ta conform ta changes in presentation af the
December3l, 2016 consolidated fınancial statements.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the appiication of accounting poiicies and the reparted amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual resuits may differ fram these estimates.

Estimates and underiying assumptions are reviewed an an ongoing basis. Revisions ta accounting
estimates are recognised in the periad in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods
affected. These disclasures supplement the commentary signifıcant accounting policies (Note 2) and
fınancial risk management (Note 4).

Critical accaunting judgements made in applying the Group’s accounting policies inciude:

Financial asset and Iiability ciassification: The Group’s accounting policies pravide scope for
assets and iiabilities to be designated on inception into different accounting categories in certain
circumstances:

in classifying financial assets and liabilities as “trading”, “held-ta-maturity” and “available-for-sale
assets” the Graup has determined that it meets the descriptions set out in accounting policy Note 2F
and Note 2G.

Finance leases and derecognition of financial assets: Management applies judgement to
determine if substantially ali the signifıcant risks and rewards of ownership of financial assets and
lease assets are transferred to counterparties, in particular which risks and rewards are the most
signiflcant and what constitutes substantially ali risks and rewards.

The key assumptions concerning the future and ather key sources of estimation uncertainty that may
be a signiflcant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
Iiabilities within the next financial year are discussed beiow:

impairment of available for-sale investments

The Group reviews its debt securitles classified as available-for-sale investments at each statement of
financial position date to assess whether they are impaired. This requires similar judgement as apphed
ta the individual assessment of loans and advances.
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3. Gritical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

The Group also determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has
been a signiflcant or prolonged deoline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is
signiflcant or prolonged requires judgement. in making this judgement the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the volatility in share price and duration and extent to which the fair value of an
investment is Iess than its cost. in addition, objective evidence of impairment may be deterioration in
the fınancial health of the investee, industry and sector perfomıance, changes in technology, and
operational or financing cash flows.

Impairment losses on Ioans and advances

The methodoogy and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash
flows from a portfoJio of Ioans are reviewed regulariy to reduce any differences between Ioss estimates
and actual Ioss experience. The Group calculates coilective (IBNR) provision with intrinsic elements
such as Ioss confirmation periods, probability of defauit and ioss giyen defauits along with expert
views.

Fair value of derivatives

Where valuation techniques (for exampie, modeis) are used to determine fair values, they are
validated and periodicaliy reviewed. To the extent practicai, modeis use oniy observable data,
however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require
management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported
fair vaiues. However, the effect of the changes in assumptions about these factors is insignificant as at
December 311 2016.

Tax legisiation

Turkish tax legisiation is subject to varying interpretations as disclosed in Note 22.

Pension fund

The Group determines the present vaiue of funded benefıt obhgations in accordance with the New
Law by using several critical actuarial assumptions, inciuding the discount rate, mortality rate, and
medical costs defined by the Law as discJosed in Note 24. This approach recognizes the obligations of
the Group to make payments to 551 in respect of the benefits which wili be transferred to 55! rather
than an obligation to make benefit payments to individuals.

Deferred income tax asset recognition

Deferred income tax assets are recorded to the extent that realization of the related tax benefit 5
probable. The future taxable profıts and the amount of tax beneflts that are probable in the future are
based on medium term business plans prepared by management and extrapolated results thereafter.
The business plana are based on management expectations that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

Goodwill

Recoverable amount of goodwill was estimated based on value in use calculation as disclosed in Note
13.

With specific reference to future cash flow projeotions used in the impairment test of goodwill, it should
be noted that the parameters and information used are significantly influenced by the macro-economic
market situation and realization of business plans, which may change.
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4. Financial risk management

The Group’s risk management functions are independent from the commercial operations along with
committees such as Executive Committee and the other individual risk committees covering credit,
market and operational risks and are an integral part of ensuring the Group’s fulfılment of
requirements stipulated by the Banking Law in a manner consistent with shareholders risk appetites.
The risk management function is responsible for (1) maximizing returns on invested capital and
maintaining sustainable growth of profltability (2) monitoring trends in risk exposures and
communicating irreguladties promptly to senior management (3) monitoring asset and liability profiles
for rebalancing actions on a Umeiy basis (4) identifying and classifying the risk stmctures of products,
processes and services (5) developing and va(idaüng the credit rating/scodng modeis and (6) ensuring
compliance with Basel requirements and Banking Law.

A. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Group wiil incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to
discharge their contractual obligations. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and consumer loans
and advances, credit cards and oan commitments arising from such lending activities, but can also
arise from credit enhancement provided, such as financial guarantees, Ietters of credit, endorsements
and acceptances.

The Group is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities and other
exposures arising from its trading activities (‘trading exposures’), including non-equity trading portfolio
assets, derivatives, reverse repos and settlement balances with market counterparties.

The Group makes available to its customers guarantees which may require that the Group makes
payments on their behaif and enter into commitments to extend credit lines to secure their liquidity
needs. Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Group to make
payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specifıc act, generaliy related to the import or
export of goods. Such commitments expose the Group to similar risks to loans and are mitigated by
the same control processes and policies.

The Group manages credit risk through the following implementations:

(a) establishment of credit risk policy involving credit risk strategies, implementation of credit policy
guldelines, definition of the optimum composition of the overali (oan portfolio, credit risk budget
and identification of risk positions within legal and group wide limitations;

(b) development, enhancement and maintenance of rating and scohng modeis (probability of
default (“PD”), exposure at default (“EAD”) and oss giyen default (‘LGD’)) rnodels for alI
segments for measuring, monitoring and controlling credit risk;

(c) monitohng and measuring the evolution of credit risk for alI segments, (i.e. by industry, sector,
geographical area etc.), presentation of the strategic credit risk related reports to senior
management, including evolution of oan provisioning and comparison with peer banks;

(d) obtaining continuity of operative rnethodologies (e.g. borrower evaluaUon, ban and collateral
cbassiflcations, monitohng and recovery principles) for credit processes (underwhting,
monitoring and work-out) and related tools (including testing of new functionabities);

(e) evaluation of new credit products, changes to existing ones and monitoring thern to ensure the
risk proflle is compatible with the risk appetite and reputational risk of the Bank (e.g. on the
basis of minimum requirements in terrns of granting, monitoring, work-out procedures, pilot
phase defınition, regular performance rneasurement, sustainable and sound introduction and
growth criteria, etc.);

(f) preparation of credit risk budget in line with predefined lending targets;

(g) calcubation of Cost of Risk and related provisions by segments to better assess the riskiness of
the oan portfolio for maintaining asset quality;

(h) execution of provisioning methodologies in line with BRSA and IFRS principles.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

Oredit policies reflect general oredit risk principles to be followed throughout the Group’s lending
activities and the related strategies and goals, as welI as shareholders’ risk appetites. The credit policy
guideline is prepared by the Group’s credit risk management department and approved by the Board
of Directors.

Parent Bank rating system:

The strategy of the Bank is to develop rating/scoring models (both application and behavioural) in
house. For this aim, a credit rating model development unit has been established and alI models since
2009 have been developed internally. In parallel to this, a separate validation team is responsible for
initial and ongoing validation of the models.

30 different rating models (including sub-models) developed internally are in use for different clients.

For corporate a commercial clients, integrated with the underwriting process, the Bank’s internal
application rating model calculates ratings and assigns a probability of default for each borrower,
classifying them under a scale of 9 grades examining both quantitative (statement of fınancial position,
income and cash flow analysis, collateral value) and qualitative information (management
assessment competitive position, sector performance and environmental factors). The outcomes of
the grading system reflect the riskiness of each rated customer.

A separate rating model is used for the customers operating in construction industry.

The Bank’s rating tool concentration by risk classes as of December 31 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

Concentration
level (%)

Rating
class(l> 2016 2015

Above average 14 45.2 47.5
Average 5± -6 44.3 44.0
Below average 7+ -9 10.5 8.5
(1) For corporate and commercial dients that are rated individualiy oniy.

Application rating model used for SME clients has 6 sub-segments to measure the risk level of SME
clients during the underwriting process.

Behavioural rating models for SME and commercial clients are used for monitoring the performance of
existing portfolio on a monthly basis.

On the private individual side, scoring models are also used throughout the granting, limit
management and monitoringicollection processes for consumer loans and credit cards segment.
The above-mentioned methodologies and processes dedicated to different market segments (usage of
different credit evaluation tools per segments) gives the Bank the ability to measure, manage and
monitor credit risk in a more accurate way.

Taking into consideration the scoring models, the Group ciassifies its credit portfolio into the following
groups as at December 31, 2016 and 2015:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

% of Loans Provision % of Loans Provision
Group’s rating and advances covemge % and advances coverage %

1. Perfouning Ioans 9221 050 93.07 0.47
2. Watch-listed 3.28 416 305 4.16
3. Legal follow-up 4.51 74.43 3.88 68.76

100.00 3.96 100.00 3.23
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

The details of the oans and advances past due but not impaired (the Group defines this group as
Ioans with a past due days between 30 to 90 days) which are ciassifled under performing Ioans
(including past due watch-Iisted Ioans) are as follows;

December3l, 2016

Past due between Past due between December 31, 2015
30 — 60 days 60 — 90 days Total Total

Corporate 4,141,276 438,797 4,560,073 1,204,066
Consumer 812,034 584,703 1,396,737 721,429
Credit cards 218,927 259,500 478,427 312,891
Leasing 7,180 3,227 10,407 17,809
Factoring 16,763 2,495 19,258 83,835

5,196,180 1288,722 6,484,902 2,340,030

The watch list category is defined as clients with payments past due 30 to 90 days and clients which
are considered by the monitoring department on the basis of subjective criteria, to require ciose
monitoring.

Loans and advances rescheduled:

Restructuring activities include extended and/or rescheduled payment arrangements, approved
external management plans, arrangement of terms of oan such as modifıcation and deferral of
payments, interest rate, foreign exchange (“FX”) type, collateral structure, or additional loans etc, there
can also be alternatives of granting additional loans or sale of collateral, sale of debts, and sale of
companies.

Restructuring may be applied for watch-listed Ioans (ciassification as watch is not based on past due
days) or Ioans in nonperforming oan accounts, If restructuring is applied for a watch-Iisted ban, that
oan wili be ciassifled to performing ban accounts but its terms (FX rate, payment dates, interest rate
etc) may be changed.

On the other hand, if restructuring is applied for boans in non-performing oan accounts that ban wili
continue to stay at least 6 more months in non-performing oan accounts and it may be transferred to
specifled “restructured ban accounts” when both of the folbowing conditions are met: after at beast 15%
coblection of the ban amount and staying at east 6 months in nonperforming ban accounts, bf an
additional ban was granted during restructuring, then at beast 15% collection requirement becomes at
least 20% of totab <existing + additional oan). As of December 31, 2016, the total amount of
restructured boans included in legal follow up during the year was TL 528,332 <2015- TL 286,893).

Restructuring policies and practices are consistent with the requirements of the BRSA.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Credit risk exposures reıatlng to assets on-statement of fınancial positlon:

Laans and advances ta banks 3,449,218 3,397631
Laans and advances ta customers
- Credit cards 22,814,646 20,248,249

Consumer 31,655,980 29,808,625
- Corporate 123,363,847 103,393,474

Leasing 8,262,225 6,827,553
- Factaring 2,884,153 2,248,998
Financiaı assets heid for trading;
- Securities 43,365 74,239
- Derivative financiaı instruments 2,986,773 1,676,669
Hedging derivatives 1,209,712 961,041
Investment securities
Availabıe-for-saıe 18,217,306 22,703,163
HeId-to-maturity 11,588,890 7,108,809

Other assets 4,607,967 3,097,896

Credit risk exposures reıating to off-statement of fınanciaı position items:

Credit relaled commilments 61,985,401 53,214,865
Other 6,469,083 4,429,331

The above table represents a worst case scenario of oredit risk exposure in the absence of any
collateral or credit enhancements.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

• For securities lending and reverse repurchase transactions, cash or securities
• For commercial ending, mortgages over real estate properties, cash, guarantee etters,

securities, pledges or guarantees
• For retail ending, mortgages over residential properties or pledges on vehicles

Management monitors the market value of collateral and requests additional collatera in accordance
with the underiying agreementwhen necessary.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

Industry sectors

The Group uses the Central Bank of Republic of Turkey (CBRT) definitions for economic sectors in
order to be able to make comparisons with banking sector wide figures. These definitions are also in
line with NACE (European Ciassifıcation of Economic Activities) classiflcations which are used within
the EU. Through the credit policy, the Board of Directors sets the sectoral limits on lending, and these
Iimits can oniy be altered by a decision from the Board of Directors. The sector concentration is
accordingly monitored and reported on a regular basis. Particular attention is giyen to some sectors
which are considered as “10w performers” in terms of high non-performing oan (NPL”) leveis.
Macroeconomic conditions, NPL Ievels, expectations about sectors and UCG group policies are taken
into consideration in setting and altering the limits. Sectoral classifıcation is defined in terms of the
borrower’s activity area, not based on collateral.

Wholesale
Financial Raal and retali Public Othor

Inatitutlans Manufacturjng ostato irade soctor industdos individuala Total

bana and advances ta banka 3449,216 . - - - - - 3,449.218
toans and advances ta

custamera 4110799 26474,939 891382 6065879 1759966 105095039 44582847 188,980651
Trading aecurıties - debt

securıtios - . - - 36,713 - . 36713
Derivative financial instwments 2,122,394 654.803 - . 67 4 9,505 2,986,773
Hedging derivatives 1,209,712 - - . . . 1.209,712
nvestment secrnities - debt

secuhties 2,863,863 . - . 26,928,769 13,544 . 29,806,196
Other assets 3,049,203 - . . 98,060 2.159.413 11,217 5,317.693

Aa af Docamberal, 2016 16,805,189 27,329,742 891,382 8,065,579 28.823,595 107,268,000 44,503,569 231,767,356

As of Deosmbaral, 2016 13,218,351 31,919,699 1,040755 6,727,435 28,873,622 67.955,127 50.321.317 202,056,536

Letter af guarantees 3,787921 22,044.984 568,469 3,635,246 . 22,755,611 - 52,792,231
Letter af credits 623,146 6,839.582 10.211 1,470,642 - 249,563 - 9,193.170
Accoptanco aedLta - 157,287 - 23,761 - 14.718 - 195,766
Other cammıtmenta and

cantingencios 70,383 4,320,200 . 193,180 - 1,689,554 . 6,273,317

As af December3l, 2016 4,481,450 33,362,053 578,686 5,322,529 - 24,709,466 . 65,454,484

Asa! Docembor3l, 2015 2,660,776 28,044.511 451,839 5,067,231 - 23,418,525 1,311 57,644,196
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

Geographical sectors

Geographical concentrations of total assets:

Turkey ıtaıy Other EU Other Totaı

Cash and balances with centraı banks 32,380,566 . 470.827 231.902 33.083,295
Loans and advances ta banks 1763,548 42,081 980,970 662.319 3,449,218
Financial assets heid for trading
-Trading securities 43,365 - - - 43,365
-Derivative financial instruments 873,817 2,082,513 30,443 2.986,773
Hedging derivatives . 1,209,649 63 1,209,712
Laans and adances tc custcmers, net
. Credit cards 22,759,106 . - 55,540 22.814,646
. Consumer 31,555,633 . . 99,347 31,655,980
- Corparate 118747,998 177,528 2,053,183 2.385.135 123,363,847
. Leasing 7,903,750 106,963 251 .512 6,262,225
- Factoring 2,884,153 . . . 2.884,153
Investment securities
. Availabıe-for-sale 17,374,688 . 485,891 356,727 15,217,306
. Heid-to-maturiiy 10,890,984 45,635 576,601 75,670 11588,890

ınvestment in assaciates and jaint ventures 245.585 . . 437,143 682,728
Goodwilı 1,023,528 . . . 1,023,528
Other intangible assets 570,355 1,254 15,813 587,422
Property and equipment 1,241,704 . 2,363 23,639 1,267,706
Deferred incame tax assets 94,246 - . 94.246
Other assets 5,151,666 2,151 95,204 68,872 5,317,893

As of December 31, 2016 255,505,992 267,395 8,065,418 4,694,128 268,532,933

As of December 31, 2015 222,253,199 199,267 5.995,165 4,591,451 233,039,082

Letter af guarantees 49,329,403 1,225,484 606,913 1,630,431 52,792.231
Letter af credils 5,157,564 18,439 667,989 3,349,178 9,193,170
Acceptance credts 195,766 . - . 195,766
Other commitments and contingencies 6,042,312 . 231,005 6,273,317

As of December3l, 2016 60,725,045 1,243,923 1,274,902 5,210,614 68,454,484

As of December3l, 2015 50,764,199 1,016,290 1,490,531 4,373,176 57,644,196
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

B. Market risk

Market risk iş the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments wili fluctuate dua
ta changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. As a
commercial group, the focus is sewing the financial needs of the custamers, thereby generating
exposure to interest rate, and foreign exchange risk.

The Market Risk Policy of the Group identifles risk-management guidehnes. According to the Market
Risk Policy, market risk is managed depending on the treatment of the banking book and trading book.
The banking book consists of alI assets and liabilities arising from commercial activities and is
sensitive to interest rate and foreign exchange movements. The trading book, on the other hand,
inoludes the positions held for trading, client servicing purposes or for market making operations.

The Group trades mainiy in FX and securities, within predefined Iimits, Risk limits are set on intra-day
and end of day positions as weB as Value-at-Risk, monitored on a daily basis.

The banking book interest rate risk is measured through the economic value sensitivity method, which
implies the potential change in fair value of the interest rate positions resulting from a parallel
upward/downward shift of the yield curve. The overail sensifivity is required to be within 20% of the
Core Tier 1 Capital, as also outlined in Basel Il. Interest rate swaps are utilized to mitigate the banking
book interest rate risk resulting from repricing and maturity mismatches. Besides Economic Value
Sensitivity, an overail Value at Risk, covering alI statement of financial position items and Basis Point
Value (“BPV”) methods are used to measure the structural interest rate risk.

As part of the management of market risk, the Group undertakes variaus hedging strategies with
hedge accounting applied (Note 8). The Group alsa uses derivative financial instruments such as
forwards, swaps, futures and options in the foreign exchange and capital markets. These transactions
are considered as effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies. However,
since they do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specifıc provisions of AS 39, they are treated
as derivatives held for trading.

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below.

(a) Value-a t-risk

The Group applies a VaR methodology to its trading portfolios, ta estimate the market risk of positions
heid and the maximum losses expected, based upon a number of assumptions for various changes in
market conditions. The VaR limits are set by the Board of Directors and revised every year according
ta the budget and strategic plan of the Group. VaR limit compliance is monitored by Risk Management
on a daily basis.

VaR is a statisticaliy based estimate of the potential loss on the current portfolio from adverse market
movements. it expresses the “maximum” amaunt the Group might lose, but oniy to a certain level of
confıdence (99%). There is therefore a specifıed statistical probability (1%) that actual lass could be
greater than the VaR estimate. The VaR model af the Group assumes a one-day “holding pedod” until
positions can be ciosed. The Group’s assessment of past movements is based on data for the past
500 days. The Group applies these historical changes in rates, prices, indices, etc. directly to its
current positions - a method known as historical simulation. Actual outcomes are monitored regulariy
ta test the validity of the assumptions and parameters/factors used in the VaR calculation (back
testing). The use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of more
signifıcant market movements.
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4. Financial risk management (continued>

As VaR constitutes an integral part of the Group’s market-risk control regime, VaR limits are
established annuaJiy for alI trading portfolio operations. For investment positions, such as available for
sale or held-to-maturity portfolios, risk appetite limits are also applied (VaR/Nominal Positions). Actual
exposure against Iimits, together with a consolidated group-wide VaR, is reviewed daily by Risk
Management. Average VaR for the trading portfolio of the Group for the twelve months period is TL
2508 in 2016.

The quabty of the VaR model is continuously monitored by back-testing the VaR results for trading
books. AlI back-testing exceptions are investigated, and results are reported to the monthly Executive
Committee (“ExCo”) meetings.

Group total VaR includes securities, fx position, laans, deposits, debt securities issued and derivatives
which are sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates, FX, equity prices and commodity prices on and off
the bank’s balance sheet and the trading VaR takes into account the securities portfolio held for
trading, fx position and derivatives performed for trading purposes.

Trading portfolio VaR by risk type 12 months to reporting date (2016>
Average Kigh Low

Foreign exchange risk 2538 5983 344
Interest rate risk of trading securities 3,057 7,450 710
Equities risk 1,215 2,823 25

Total VaR 2,508 5,593 651

12 months to reporting date (2015>
Average High Low

Foreign exchange risk 1,098 4,249 45
Interest rate risk of trading securities 3,270 7,465 600
Equities risk 450 2,274 12

Total VaR 3,997 9,634 1,468
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Stress tests

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme conditions,
The stress tests carried out by Risk Management, also included in the market risk policy of the Group,
include: FX and interest rate stress testing, where stress movements are applied to the FX position
and to the banking book. The results of the stress tests are reviewed by ExCo.

1) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange exposure is the result of the mismatch of foreign currency denominated assets and
liabilities (including foreign currency indexed ones) together with exposures resulting from off-balance
sheet foreign exchange derivative instruments. The Group takes an exposure to the effects of
fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.

The Iimits are set by the Board of Directors on the level of exposure in aggregate for both overnight
and intra-day positions, which are monitored on a daily basis.
The table below summarizes the Group’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by
currency. The off-balance sheet gap represents the difference between the notional amounts of
purohased and sold foreign currency derivative fınancial instruments.

December 31, 2016

Foroıgn currency
USO EUR Other Totaı

Assets
Cash and balances wilh central banks 12,058587 6,964,891 5,008,378 24,031,856
Loans and advances ta banks 962,258 2,339.578 103,993 3,405,829
Financial assets held for tradjng
-Trading securities 16,400 1,425 . 17,825
. Derivalive fınancial inslruments 277,751 115,196 62 393.009
Loans and advances ta customers 45,618,318 37,564,363 1,444,578 84,627,259
Hedging derivaüves 88,593 24,511 . 113,104
ınvestment securities
-Available-far-sale 2,251,867 700,325 21,317 2,973,509
. Held-to-maturity 5889,209 868,012 2 6,757,223
ınvestment in associates and joint ventures - . 437,143 437,143
Properiy and equipment . 2,363 32,328 34,691
Deferred income tax assets .

Other assets 1,233193 1,530,339 220,750 2,984,282

Totaı assets 68,396,176 50,111,003 7,268,551 125,775,130

Lıabilıtıes
Deposits from banks 3044,682 1,388,883 60,406 4,493,971
Customer deposits 43,731,650 24,214,215 2,389,788 70,335,653
Funds borrowed 13,537,887 18,958,930 372.278 32,869,095
Debt securities in issue 14,526,320 487,387 304,310 15,318,017
Financial liabilities designated at fair value 3,938,694 . . 3,938,694
Derivativefinancial instnjments 209,704 153,519 26,521 389,744
Current income taxes payable . 4,188 . 4,158
Deferred incame tax liabilities - 263 7,629 7,892
Hedging derivatives 4,200 18,832 1 23,033
Other provisions - 208 91 299
Retirement benefıt obligations - - -

Other liabilities 863,587 1,614,500 7,612 2,485,699

Tataı ılabılıtles 79,856,724 46,840,925 3,168,636 129,866,235

Net baıance sheet posidon <11,460,548) 3,270,078 4,099,915 <4,090,555>

oft-baıance sheet derivative
ınstwments net notıonaı positlon 11,314,635 <3,142,494> (3,490,796) 4,681,345

Netforelgn currency posltıon (145,913) 127,584 609,119 590,790
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

December3l, 2015
Foreıgn currency

USD EUR Other Total

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 15,450,666 4,714,733 3,759,572 23,925,271
Loans and advances ta banks 1,350,543 1639,555 56,681 3,077,079
Financial assets heid for trading
- Trading securitles 10964 3,530 . 14,494
. Derivative fınancial instnjments 167,438 53,521 52 221,011
Loans and advances to customers 41,353,109 23,889.247 1,043,752 66,286,108
Hedging dedvatives 2,847 3,421 . 6,268
lnvestment securities
- Available-for-sale 3,021,679 723,258 453,553 4,195,490

Held1o-maturity 4,487,057 661,306 . 5.148,363
lnvestment in associates and joint ventures . - 338,140 338,140
Property and equipment . 2,584 31,511 34,095
Deferred income tax assets . 4,868 . 4,868
Otherasseis 500.198 788,892 178,504 1,767,594

Totaı assets 66,644,501 32,485,215 5,892,065 105,021,781

Llabıııtles

Depositsfmm banks 2,505,535 1,063,242 93,729 3,962,806
Customer deposits 38,650,945 20.547,047 1,567,927 61.065,919
Funds barrowed 19,610,250 7,494,351 200.379 27,304,980
Debt securities in issue 6,151,883 6,211,633 275,045 12,638,561
Financial liabilities designated al fair vaıue 3.253.119 . - 3,253,119
Derivative financial instmments 284,209 13,716 20 297,945
Current income taxes payable . - - -

Deferred income tax liabilities - . 2,970 2,970
Redging derivatives 81,283 27,682 - 105,965
Other provisions . 176 517 693
Retirement benefıtobligations . 16,406 16,406
Other UabiliUes 1,360,351 1.296,460 28,465 2,655,329

Totaı ılabılıües 72,197,905 36,670,733 2,469,055 111,337,693

Net baıance sheet posıtıon (5,553,404) (4,185,518) 3,423,010 <6,315,912)

Off-baıance sheet derivative
ınstmments net notlonaı posltlon 5,272,930 4,306,950 (2,551,242) 7,028,638

Net foreıgn currency posıtıon <280,474) 121,432 871,768 712,726
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

At December 31, 2016, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency were translated into TL
using a foreign exchange rate of TL 3.5192 = USD 1, and TL 3.7099 = EUR 1 (2015 - TL 2.9076 =

USD1, and TL 3.1776 = BUR 1).

For the purpose of calculating currency risks, foreign currency indexed loans and securities have been
reported in this table in the relevant currency of indexation.

Currency risk sensitivity:

The table below represents the sensitivity of the Parent Bank to a 15% change of currency exchange
rates (USD and EUR). A 15% change is the assumption of parity change that may be faced in a
possible fluctuation used in the Parent Bank’s stress test scenarios.

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015
Change in currency exchange rate ProflUloss effect <fl ProfıUloss effect <1)

(+) 15% (55,076) (58,451)
(-) 15% 55,076 58,451

(1) Excluding tax e[tect.

ii) Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument wilI fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument wili fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on
exposure to the effects of fiuctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair
value and cash flow risks. Interest rate risk Iimits are set in terms of an economic value sensitivity limit
and Basis Point Value (“BPV”) limit. Economic value sensitivity anaiysis is performed according to a
scenario of 2% shift in FX yield curve and 4% shift in TL yield curve. The resulting profıVloss should
not exceed 20% (Sensitivity Limit) of the Bank’s Tier 1 ÷ Tier 2 Capital. The BPV limit restricts
maximum interest rate risk position by currency and time buckets. BPV is applied for the banking book
and represents the sensitivity of the banking book to 1 bp change in interest rates.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure ta interest rate risk at December 31, 2016 and
2015. included in the table are the Group’s assets and Iiabilities in carrying amounts ciassifled in terms
of periods remaining ta cantractual repricing dates.

December 31. 2016 Up ta 3 manths 1 year ta Over Non.Interest
3 months ta 1 year 5 yedi 5 yean bearing Tatal

Asseta
Caah and balanceswıtfl central banka 18.716.507 55,603 . - 14.311.185 33 083 295
Laans ait advances ta banks 1.909.371 202.417 1083 . 1.336.347 3 449,218
Financial asseta heid lar tradıg
.Tmdir.gsecuriües 856 10,914 6,179 18,781 6.635 43,365
. Denvative fmandal instmments 1,872.312 420,504 423,567 270.210 - 2.986,773

Hedging derivaüves 1,169.122 456 40.134 - - 1,209,712
Loansandadvancestacuslamers 62,956,520 55,632,1% 44,570,284 21,560.352 4.181,459 1BB,960,85l
Investment securitles
. ğvailabJe-lor.saIe 5.504,246 5,798,470 3,475,043 2.236,164 203,383 18,217,306
. Keld-ia-maturity 879,676 1505,914 1,645.515 7.557,785 . 11,588,690
lnvestment in ösociates and jolnt ventures . . . 682,728 682,728
Goadwill . - . . 1,023.528 1,023,528
Other intangibla assets . . . . 587,422 587,422
Properly and equlpment - . . . 1,267.706 1,267,706
Delen’ed Income tax 255615 . - . . 94,246 94,246
Other assets 89,480 . - . 5,226,413 5,317,893

Total asseta 94,098,090 63,666,654 50,181,805 31,663,332 28.923.052 266,532,933

Liablildes
Oeposits 1mm banka 12,501,077 696,516 - - 613,650 13,811,243
Customerdeposits 113,004,146 6,662,812 961,506 133,683 26,568,606 149,550,753
Funds barrawed 24,338,842 10,240,290 1,653,121 735,500 . 37,167,753
Debi securities in issue 7,289,311 6,452,217 5,530,026 37,345 . 19,308,899
Financial labilittes designated al (air value . . . 3,938,694 . 3,936,694
Derivative financial lnstmments 880,670 589,609 903,948 204,452 . 2,578,679
Cu,rent incame tases payable . . - . 33,792 33,792
Deferred income tas liabilittes - . - . 7,892 7,692
Hedging derivatives 88,157 631 508 . . 69,296
Diller pravisions . . . . 765.014 765,014
Retremeni benefit obligattons . . - . 697,516 697,516
Other habilities 591 7,696 1,112 - 13,654,513 13,663,912

Total liabilItles 158,102.794 26,849,771 9,270,221 5,049,674 42,340,963 241,613,443

Net interest reprlcing gap (an balance) (64,004,704> 36,836.883 40,891,584 26.613,658 (13.417,931) 26.919,490

Or-balance sheet dehvalve
instnjsııenis net r.otianal posiflon 27.267,765 (2.350,770) (16,392,589) (8,159,895) . 364,511

Net Interest ropdctng gap (net posluan) (36.736.939) 34.40.113 24,498,995 16.453,763 (l3.417,931) 27.284,001
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

Non
December 31, 2015 Up to 3 monlhs 1 yearto Over interest

3 months to 1 yor 5 years 5 years beadng Total

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 17.087.214 58.152 . - 10.243581 27,388947
Loans and advances 10 banks 1,997656 170,961 - . 1,229,014 3.397,631
Fir.ancia! assets he:d for trading
-Tradng securities 7,674 11.917 25.262 21.253 8,133 74,239
. Derivative önancial instruments 837.768 895.638 213 569 26734 - 1676.669
Loans and advances tü customers 44,803506 50.316,484 43,372.487 20.449.277 3,585,145 162,526,899
Hedging dehvattves 700.932 254.618 5,491 . - 961.041
Invesürent secuhties
- Avaflable-for-sale 7,671.178 7,551,054 3,788,649 3,409,185 273.097 22,703,163
. Held-to.matuPty 396.579 1,221,604 1,143899 4,348,627 - 7,108,609
lnvestment in associates and joint ‘jentüms . . - . 566,076 566,076
GoDdwilI - - - - 1,023,525 1,023,528
Other intangible 866813 . . . . 528,911 528,911
Properly and equipmenl . . - . 1,281,051 1.201,051
Delerred income tax asseis . - . . 185,900 105,900
Olher assets - - . - 3,616,218 3,616,218

Totaı assets 73,502,627 60.191,428 48,549,297 28,255,076 22.540.654 233,039,082

Llabllltles
Deposits 1mm banks 14,330,108 672,053 33,072 . 349,936 15,385169
Customer deposits 97,720,843 6,396,343 685,677 280,583 19,961,986 125.055,432
Funds borrowed 22,808,211 8,022,988 768,127 825,696 . 32.425.022
Debt secudties in issue 6,088,211 2,325,254 6,251,601 31 .992 . 16,697,058
Financial liabilities designated ot fair value . - . 3,253,119 . 3,253,119
Dedvative financial instruments 1,208,429 435,716 191,719 86,544 - 1.922,406
Current income taxes payable . - - . 195,800 195,800
Deferred income tax liabililios . . . - 2,970 2,970
Hedging derivatıves 115,116 32,358 499 305 - 148,278
Other provisions . . . . 713,469 713,469
Retiremenl benefıt obligations . . . . 715.637 715,637
Otherliabilities 752 445,524 1,207 - 12,505,652 12,953.335

Total labilitles
144,271.670 18,332.238 7,931,902 4,486,239 34,445.650 209,461.697

Net Interestreprtcing gap (on balance) <70,769,043) 41.859,192 40,617,395 23,768,837 (11.904,996) 23,571,385

Olt-balance sheeı dehvatve
inslmments net notional posilion 24.460.633 (6.677.496) (14,181,466> (4,332.133) . (730,462)

Net Interest repdclng gap <net posllion) (48.308.410) 35,181696 26.435,929 19.436784 (11,904,996) 22,840,923

(41)



Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes ta the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL uniess otheıwise indicated.)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity anaiysis:

The sensitivity anaiysis regarding the effect of interest rate fluctuations on the financial statements is
performed for alı interest earning assets and interest bearing Iiabiiities.

Interest rate risk resulting from banking books comprise of repricing risk, yieid curve risk, and basis
risk.

interest rate risk is measured and monitored monthly by market risk management. Duration anaiysis,
gap anaiysis, basis points value anaiysis, scenario anaiysis and simulation of net interest income are
performed and reported monthly to Asset Liabiiity Management function of the Executive Committee.

interest sensitivity is measured most appropriateiy using the duration distribution map for every type of
product. investment decisions are done by taking into account the interest rate measurements. The
maturity and interest risk for products with uncertain maturities is effectively measured using
behaviorai anaiysis.

Economic value differences resulting from interest rate f]uctuations of the Bank as of December 31,
2016 and 2015 are presented in the table below.

December3l, 2016
Applied shock

(+1- x basis Gainsİ Gains! Reguiatory Equity
Currency points) Losses Losses! Reguiatory Eguity

TL (+)500 bp (2,513657) (7.72)%
TL (.)400 bp 2503,767 7.69%
EUR (+>200 bp (232,786) (0.71)%
FUR (->200 bp 232,057 0.71%
USD (÷)200 bp (134,829) (0.41)%
USD . (->200 bp 286,728 0.88%
Tabi (for negative shock) 3,022,552 9.28%
Totai (for positive shock) (2,881,272) (8.85)%

December3l, 2015
Applied shock Gainsİ Gains/ Reguiatory Equity

Currency (+1- x basis points) Lasses Losses! Reguiatory Eguity

TL (+)500 bp (2,253,008) (8.05)%
TL (.)400 bp 2,233,739 7.98%
EURO (+)200 bp (390,249) (1 .39)%
EURO (-)200 bp 390.595 1.40%
USD (+)200 bp (174,722> (0.62)%
USD (->200 bp 300.442 1.07%
Tatal (for negative shock) 2,924,776 10.45%
Tobi (for positive shock) (2,817,980) (10.06)%
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

The table below summarises weighted average interest rates for financial instruments by major
currencies outstanding at December 31, 2016 and 2015 based on yeariy contractual rates.

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
USD <%) EUR (%) TL (%) USD (%) EUR (%) TL (%)

Assets
Cash and balances with

centraı banks 049 . 3.31 0.21 . 2.09
Laans and advances ta banks 0.45 1.36 11.14 1.88 1.53 1 3.54
Financial assets heid for trading 3.69 3.06 9.92 3.92 2.06 8.72
Investment securities

Availabıe-for-sale 5.46 4.31 9.59 5.51 441 9.96
Heid-to-maturiiy 5.40 2.97 9.46 5.39 3.40 10.61

Loans and advances to customers 5.90 4.27 13.18 5.34 406 14.48

Llabiıltles
Depositş from banks 1.62 0.87 10.58 1.05 0.77 9.97
Customerdeposits 2.87 1.55 10.74 2.21 1.51 12.73
Debt securities in issuc 4.45 2.14 8.00 3.72 1.78 11.07
Funds borrowed 2.49 1.21 8.95 3.00 1.47 9.61

C. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defıned as the risk of unexpected Ioss occurring or the Graup having difflculties in
raising funds while meeting maturing liabilities. Liquidity management is daily monitored by the Bank
under Treasury Management, Risk Management and Capital Management. The liquidity policy of the
Group iş approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors. Treasury Management is responsible for carrying
out transactions which are appropriate to Bank’s policy, monitoring of Iiquidity position and submitting
necessary reports ta executives. Capital management contributes to determining strategies and
operating actions for the management of the iiquidity position in addition ta preparing funding plans
and contingency plans for the Bank in cooperation with Treasury Management. Liquidity risk is
evaluated with liquidity gap analysis, Iiquidity stress tests and suppiementary
precautions/measurements. Liquidity Gap anaiysis iş performed for two different periods as shoft-term
and long-term. Going concem scenario and structurai positions are reported monthiy. This reporting
constitutes the basis of monitodng and management of Iiquidity position.

The Bank functions as a central funding institution in its relations with its subsidiaries. intra-group
liquidity management and funding strategies are limited ta related legal boundaries.

The Bank issues an annual funding plan in order to sustain funding in a consistent and balanced way.
Funding plans have to be updated at least annualiy and approved by the Executive Committee since
they compiy with the budgeting process and risk appetite frameworks. The primaıy purpose of the
funding plan is to provide a reliable balance between assets and liabilities.

Both short-term liquidity and long-term (structural) liquidity measurement and reporting for ali types of
currencies are periodically made for the Bank and its subsidiades. There are limits which are
predetermined and approved by the Board of Directors on the basis of ali currencies for each period.

The Bank mainly uses derivative transactions for managing liquidity risk and monitors cash inflow and
outflow periods in the framework of funding plan, balancing the distribution among currencies.

The Bank aims to reduce the risks to the lowest level if required via measuring possible risks in
liquidity with stress tests. Stress tests make it possible for the Bank to reinterpret the analysis of its
liquidity position according to scenarios depending on possible cases and tail risks except for crisis
situations. The bank apphes weekly liquidity stress tests consisting of different scenarios and maturity
segments (maximum 60 days).
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

“Liquidity Contingency Plan” is applied if the Bank needs more liquidity than its daily liquidity need
because of possible fınancial events in future. Duties and responsibilities are defined in detail in the
aforementioned plan.

Cash, effective money, cheques, CBRT reserves and debt instruments issued by Treasury of the
Republic of Turkey are treated as high quality Jiquid assets.

Cash outflows from derivative transactions in liquidity coverage ratio calculation are based on
inclusion of net cash flows with maturity of 30 days in the calculation. Additionally, transactions having
a margin possibility are included in the liquidity coverage ratio calculation by taking the largest amount
according to absolute value of net margin flows realized in the last 24 months in respect of 30 day
periods or for liability into consideration as cash outflow.

Secured funding consists of repo and secured oan transactions. A large part of securities which are
subjects of aforementioned guaranteed funding transactions consist of Sovereign Bonds ssued by
Treasury of the Republic of Turkey and transactions carried out both in the CERT market and the
interbank market.

The Bank manages alI the transactions made by its foreign branches and partnerships within the
framework of central bank, markets and related legislation of the country in which the institutions are
located. Legal lending limits and high limit transactions are closely monitored in this framework.

The following table presents the cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial
liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the statement of fınancial position date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash fiows, whereas the Group manages the
inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.

December 31, 2016”>

Upto3 3monthsta IyeartoS Over5
Demand months 1 yaar year. yeam Totaı

Lıabıııtles
Deposits from banks 613,650 12,279,872 899,303 336.087 . 14.126,912
Customerdeposiis 26,568,606 115,649,679 10,394976 737,892 133,707 153,484,860
Funds borrowed 631,321 3,895532 20.356,226 9.978,398 7012,611 41874,088
Debtsecuritiesin issue . 4,945,960 1,528,104 7,433,015 6,977,915 20,884.994
Financial Iiabilities designated et <air value - . . . 4,111,709 4,111709

Total lıablııttes 27,813,577 136,771,043 33,178,609 18,485,392 18,235,942 234,484,563

(1) Maturitios of non-cash Dans are presenled in Note 36.

December 31, 2015 1>

Upto 3 3 months ta 1 yearto 5 Over5
Demand months 1 year years year. Totaı

Lıabılıues
Deposits trom bankş 349,536 14,509,947 961,807 286.520 . 16.108.210
custorner deposits 19.961.586 98,545,863 6,275,235 720.647 349,975 125,857,706
Funds borTowed 843,701 6,425,229 14.317.252 7.834,415 6,376,507 35,797,114
Debtsecurweş in issue - 2,295,025 3:567,517 8535659 5,443584 19961,865
Finandal Iiabilities designate et <air value - . . . 3,395 451 3,395.451

Totaı ııabıııtıes 21,155,623 121,776,064 25,245821 17,377,241 15,565,597 201,120,346

(1) Maturitias of non-cash Ioans are presented in Nota 36.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

The following table represents the outstanding derivative cash flows of the Group on undiscounted
contractual maturity basis:

Derivatives settled on a gross basis

December 31, 2016 Up ta 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5
manth manths months years years Tatal

Derivatives heid for trading:
FDreign exciıange

derivatives:
. Outflow 37.966.130 11,712.061 7,618,485 4,995,185 1,119,622 63,414,464
• İnflow 37,239,353 12,515,376 7,694,496 4,988,083 897.480 63,334,788
ınterest rate derivatives:
- Outflow 1,026.566 1.220.093 2,297,963 4,501,645 1,039.360 10,155,627
- ınflow 1,152.652 1.263,626 2,175,157 4,910,633 1,212,872 10,714,940
Derivatives heid for hedging:
Interest rate derivatıves:
- OuW,ow - 795 244.956 5.358,265 1.430,802 7,034,851
- lnflow - 987 436.900 6.189.067 1.848,103 8,475,057

Tataı cash autflaw 39,062,696 12,932,952 10,161,435 14,856,075 3,649,784 80,604,942

Tataı cash Inflaw 38,392,005 13,779,989 10,306,553 16,087,183 3.958,455 82,524,785

December 31, 2015 Up to 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5
manth manths manths yorns years Totaı

Der,vadves heid for tradng:
Foreign ezchange derivat’ves:
-OuW,ow 35,340,560 14.199,632 9.440.792 2,613,952 259.715 62,454,674
- lnflow 35,703,905 13956,555 9.343.500 2.521.267 221,128 61,776,385
Interest rate denvatives:
- OuWow 1.026.566 1.220.093 2.297.963 4,501,645 1,099,360 10,155.627
- lnflow 1.152.652 1,263.626 2175157 4,910,633 1.212.872 10,714.940
Dedyatives heid for hedging:
Interest rate derivatives:
- Outflow 14.361 13,991 254,903 5029,648 1.307.276 6.650,239
- lniow 8,137 7.714 312,175 5.633,152 1.621,605 7.582,783

Totat cash outflow 36,991,567 15,433,716 12.023,718 12.145,245 2,666,354 79,260,540

Total cash ınflaw 36,864,694 15,257,925 11,830,132 13,015,052 3,055,605 80,074,108
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

D. Operational risk

Operational risk is defıned as the risk of losses due to errars, infringements, interruptions, damages
caused by internal processes or personnel er systems or caused by external events. Legal and
campliance risk is a sub-category of operational risk: it is the risk ta earnings from violations or
noncompliance with aws, rules, regulations, agreements, prescribed praatices or ethical standards.
The Operational Risk Management department (“ORM”) monitors the Group’s operational risk
exposure in accordance with standards and policies, collects operational risk data in a web-based
database, performs the risk indicators’ identification, the scenario anaiysis assessment, Business
Continuity Management and assures the quality of data gathered in accordance with Basel Il
standards, praposes insurance hedging on operational risks and prepares risk mitigation plana. ORM
performs second level controls and, manages and measures the Group’s aperational risks.

For regulatory purposes and consideration in the statutory capital adequacy ratio, on a consolidated
basis, the Graup calculates the amount subject ta aperational risk with the basic indicator method in
accardance with Section 3 of the Regulation Regarding Measurement and Evaluation af Banks’
Capital Adequacy Ratio” published in the OWıcial Gazette No. 28337 dated June 28, 2012, namely
“The Calculatian af the Amaunt Subject ta Operational Risk”, based on the grass incame af the Graup
far the years ended 2015, 2014 and 2013. As af December 31, 2016, the tatal amount subject ta
aperatianal risk is calculated as TL 14,338,007 (2015 - TL 12,833,313) and the amaunt af the related
capital requirement is TL 1,147,041(2015 - TL 1026,665).

E. Capital management

Banks in Turkey are required ta comply with capital adequacy guidelines promulgated by the BRSA,
which are based upan the standards established by the Bank of International Settlements (“BİS”).
These guidelines require banks ta maintain adequate leveis of regulatory capital against risk-bearing
assets and off-statement of financial position exposures.

A bank’s capital adequacy ratio is calculated by taking the aggregate of its Tier 1 capital (which
comprises paid-in capital, reserves, retained earnings and profıt for the current periods minus period
loss (if any)) its Tier Il capital (which comprises general ban and free reserves, revaluation funds and
subordinated boans obtained) and its Tier 111 capital (which comprises certain qualifled subordinated
boans in accordance with regulatory guidelines) minus deductions (which compdses participations to
financial institutions, negative differences between <air and book values of subsidiaries, subordinated
bana extended, goodwill and capitalized costa), and dividing this aggregate by risk weighted assets,
which reflect both credit risk and market risk. İn accordance with these guidelines, banks must
maintain a total capital adequacy ratio of a minimum of 12%.

The Group’s regulatory capital adequacy position on a consolidated basis at December 31, 2016 and
2015 was as folbows:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Tier İ capital 23,388,409 20,625,944
Tier İl capital 9,315,485 7,724,499
Deductions (219,529) <448,257)

Total regulatory capital 32,484,365 27,902,186

Risk-weighted assets (including market and
operational risk) 246,436,668 216,058,900

Capital adeguacy ratio (%) 13.18 12.91

(46)



Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in lhousands of TL uniess otherwise indicated.)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

F. Fair value of financial instruments

Fair vaiue is the price that wouid be received to seli an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderiy
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence,
the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair vaiue of a liabwty
reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing inforniation on an ongoing basis.

if there is no quoted pdce in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The
chosen valuation technique incorporates ali of the factors that market participants would take into
account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a fınancial instrument at initial recognition is normaliy the
transaction price — i.e. the fair value of the consideration giyen or received. If the Group determines
that the fair vaiue at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced
neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identicai asset or Iiabilıity nor based on a valuation
technique that uses oniy data from observabie markets, then the financial instrument is initiaHy
measured at fair vaiue, adjusted to defer the difterence between the fair value at initial recognition and
the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profıt or Ioss on an appropriate
basis over the bfe of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is whofly supported by
observable market data or the transaction is ciosed out.

The Group did not recognise any transfers between leveis of the fair vaiue hierarchy dudng the year.

The foHowing is a description of the determination of fair vaiue for financial instmments which are
recorded at fair value using valuation techniques. These incorporate the Group’s estimate of
assumptions that a market parfıcipant would make when vaiuing the instruments.

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s fınancial
instruments that are not carried at fair value in the financial statements.

Oecember3l, 2016 Oecember3l, 2015
Carrylng Faır Carrylng Falr

value valus valus valun

Financial asseis:

Loans and advancas to banks 3,449,218 3.450,512 3,397631 3,399,450
ınvestment securities (held-to.maturity) 11,588,890 10,981,828 7,108,809 7,038,312
Loans and advances to customers 188,980,851 196.517,295 162,526,899 167,525,256

Fınanciaı ıfabiıltles:

Deposits from hanks 13,81 1,243 13,824,168 15,385,169 15,390,601
Customer deposits 149,550,753 150,432,741 125,055,432 125,648.296
Funds borrowed 37,167,753 37,188,838 32,425,022 33,446,377
Debt securities in issue 19,308,899 19,391.711 16,697,058 16,700,635

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available
market information and appropriate valuation methodoiogies. However, judgement is necessariiy
required to interpret market data to develop the estimated fair value. Accordingly, the estimates
presented herein are not necessariiy indicative of the amounts the Group couid realize in a current
market exchange.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

The fair value of overnight deposits is considered to approximate their carrying amounts. The
estimated fair value of interest beadng placements is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing
money market interest rates at the statement of fınancial position date with similar credit risk and
remaining matuhty.

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers are net of allowances for impairment. The estimated (air value of
loans and advances to customers represent the discounted amount of esümated future cash flows
expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates with similar
currency and remaining matudty to determine their fair value. The credit risk is not considered when
calculating the fair value of loans and advances to customers as in line with the pricing of such Ioans.

Investment securities

Fair value for held4o-maturity securities is based on market prices or prices prevailing at the statement
of fınancial position dale announced by the BIST,

Customer deposits, deposits from banks, funds borrowed and debt securities in issue

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which inoludes non-interest bearing
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.

The estimated fair value of other borrowings without quoted market price is based on discounted cash
flows using money market interest rates prevailing at the statement of financial position date with
similar credit risk, currency and remaining maturity. The (air value of debt securities in issue la
considered to approximate ila carrying amount.

Derivatives

Derivative products valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs are mainiy
interest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The most frequently
applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap modeis, using present value
calculations. The modeis incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties,
foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves.

Financial investments - available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial assets valued using a valuation technique or pricing modeis primariiy
consist of unquoted equities and debt securities,

These assets are valued using modeis which sometimes oniy incorporate dala observable in the
market and at other times use both observable and non-observable data. The non-observable inputs
to the modeis include assumptions regarding the future fınancial performance of the investee, its risk
profile, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the
investee operates.

Other liabilitles designated at fair value through profit or Ioss

For unquoted notes issued, a discounted cash flow model is used based on a current interest rate
yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity adjusted for market liquidity and own credit
spreads,
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy:

IFRS 7 requires ciassification of line items st fair value presented in the fınancial statements according
to defined leveis. These leveis depend on the observability of data used during fair value calculations.
Ciassification for fair value is as below:

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
nstruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadlusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or Iiabilities;

Level 2: other techniques for which ali inputs which have a signiflcant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directiy er indirectly; and

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are
not based on observable market data.

The following table shows an anaiysis of financial
value hierarchy:

Assets and Iiabilities measured at fair value

December3l, 2016

instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair

Level 1 Leveı 2 Level 3 Total

Financiaı assets st fair value through profıt and ıosş
Financial assets heid for trading
. Debt secudties 36,713 . 36,713
. Equity securities 6.652 . 6,652
. Derivatives - 2.986.773 2,986,773
Hedging derivatives - 1.209,712 1,209,712
Available-for-sale financial assets
- ınvestments secuhtieş debt 16,052,373 2,053,629 18,106,002
. ınvesıments secuhties equity 60,849 50.455 111,304

Total assets 16,156,587 6,300,569 22,457,156

Financial iiabilities af fair value through profit er loss
. Derivatives - 2,578,679 - 2,578,679
. Financiaı Liabiıities designated at fair value - 3,938,694 - 3,938,694
Hedging derivatives - 89,296 - 89,296

Total Iiabilities - 6,606,869 - 6,606,669
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

December 31, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets al fair value lhrough profil and losa
Financial assets heid for trading
- Debt securities 66,106 - - 66,106
- Equity securilies 6,133 - - 8,133
- Derivatives - 1676,669 - 1,676,669
Hedging derivatives - 961,041 - 961,041
Avaiıable-for-sale financiaı assels
- ınveslmenls securilies - debl 20,395,137 2,048,183 - 22,443,320
- Investmenls securities - equity 31,684 228,159 - 259,843

Total assets 20,501,060 4,914,052 - 25,415,112

Financiaı Iiabilities al fair vaıue through profit or ıoss
- Derivatives - 1,922,408 - 1,922,408
- Financial Liabililies designaled al fair value - 3,253,119 - 3,253,119
Hedging dedvatives - 148,278 - 148,278

Total Iiabiıiües - 5,323,805 - 5,323,805

For assets and Iiabilities that are recognised in the fınancial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Leveis in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the Iowest level input that is signifıcant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

in the current year, there was no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2.

The fair value amounts of the Bank’s financial inslruments disclosed in this note that are not carried at
fair value in the financial statements are categorised in Levei 2 in the fair vaiue hierarchy except
investment secudties (held-to-matudty) which are categohsed in Level 1.

G. Custody activities

The Group provides cuslody services ta third parties. Those assets that are heid in a custody capacity
are not included in these consolidated financial statements. The fıduciary capaciiy of the Group is as
foilows:

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

ınveslmenl securities heid in custody 7,522,109 13,204,845
Cheques received for coilection 15,989,409 15,738,076
Commercial notes received for coliection 5,162,899 4,574,657

28,674,417 33,517,578
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5. Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following
balances with Iess than three months maturity from the dale of acquisition:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 2,701,613 2,270,905
Balanceswith central banks 30,381,682 25,118,042
Reserve deposits with central banka () (20,067,325) (20,357,052)
Laans and advances to banks (with original matudty less than
90 days) (÷) 2,943,042 3,050,765
Other cash equivalents (+) 202,950 153,905

Total cash and cash eguivalents at cash f]ow statement 16,161,962 10,236,565

The Bank keeps TL, USD, EUR and Gold reserve deposits for its TL and FX liabilities at the Central
Bank Accounts in accordance with the legislation of the Central Bank numbered 2005/1, “Decree on
Reserve Deposits”.

Foreign reserve requirements:

Reserve requirements of De Nederlandsche Bank and the Central Bank of Malta are determined in
relation to the reserve base of each institution, which are defined in relation ta elements of its balance
sheet. A reserve ratio of 0% shall apply ta deposits with an agreed maturity over two years or deposits
redeemable at notice over 2 years, or repos and debt securities issued with an original maturity over
two years. A reserve ratio of 1% shall apply to alI other liabilities included in the reserve base. Credit
institutians established in the euro area may deduct a uniform lump-sum allowance from its reserve
requirement. As specifled in the European Central Bank Regulation on minimum reserves, the lump
sum allowance amounts to EUR 1001000.

Reserve requirements of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation represent reserve deposits
equivalent ta 5% af the liabilities ta non-resident legal entities in rubles and 7% of the liabilities ta non
resident legal entities in foreign currency; to 5% of the liabilities ta natural persons in rubles and 6% of
the liabilities ta natural persons in foreign currency; to 5% of the other liabilities in rubles and 7% of the
other liabilities in foreign currency.

Reserve requirements of the National Bank of Azerbaijan represent reserve deposits equivalent to
0.5% (for AZN liabilities), 1.0% (for foreign currency liabilities) of the statutory balances of customer
accounts, due tü banks and other funds borrowed.
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6. Loans and advances to banks

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015
Pomestıc Foreıgn Totaı Domestıc Foreign Totaı

TL:
Nostro/demanddeposits 2,440 13 2,461 4,155 203 4,358
Timedeposiis 39.876 800 40,676 15,458 14,610 30068
Interbank money market and reverse repo 252 . 252 155,201 . 155,281

42,576 813 43,389 174,894 14,813 189,707

Foreıgn currency:
Nostroldemand deposits 23,835 1,400,310 1,424,145 32695 1,250,258 1,282,953
Time deposits 1,697,437 284,247 1,981,684 1,350,893 443,233 1,794,126
Interbank money market and reverse repo . . . . 130,845 130,845

1,721,272 1,684,557 3,405,829 1,383,588 1,824,336 3,207,924

Totaı ıoans and advances to banks 1,763,848 1,685,370 3,449,218 1,558,482 1,839,149 3,397,631

7. Financial assets heid for trading

December 31, 2016 December

36,713

36,713

6,652

6,652

Government bonds and treasury bills

Total debt securitles

Equity securities - isted

Total eguity securities

Total securities 43,365

Derivative financial instruments 2,986,773

Total financial assets heid for trading 3,030,138

Government bonds and treasury bilis are discount and coupon securities issued
the Republic of Turkey.

31, 2015

66,106

66,1 06

8,133

8,133

74,239

1,676,669

1,750,908

by the Government of
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8. Derivative financial instruments and hedying activities

The Group utilizes the following derivative instruments with the general purpose of minimising market
risk carried by balance sheet instruments andior meeting customer demand:

“Currency forwards” represent commitments to purchase or selI foreign and domestic currency,
including undelivered spot transactions. Forwards are customized contracts transacted in the over
the-counter (OTC) market. The Group has credit exposure ta the counterparties of forward contracts.

“Currency and interest rate swaps” are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another.
Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates. Currency swaps involve the
exchange of the principal as weil. The Graup’s credit risk represents the potential cost to repiace the
swap contracts if caunterparties fail to perform their obligation. This risk is monitored on an angoing
basis with reference to the current fair value and the liquidity of the market. To cantrol the level of risk
taken, the Group assesses caunterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

Options” are cantractual agreements that convey the right to the buyer and the obligation to the writer
to buy or selI an asset at a specified price either at a fıxed future date or at any time within a specifled
period. A major pad of the Groups option book activity stems from clients’ needs; therefore to meet
client demands the Group actively runs an option book on the residual open positions which are not
fully covered. The Group 5 exposed ta credit risk on purchased options oniy, and only to the extent of
their carrying amount, which 5 their fair value.

“Interest rate cap and floor arrangements” provide the purchaser with the right to receive interest rate
differential payments on a notional amount when the indexed rate is in excess of the specifled cap rate
and limits the beneflt af reductions in interest rates if it occurs.

Gredit derivatives are capital market tools designed to transfer credit risk from one party to another.

As of December 31, 2016, the Bank’s credit derivatives portfolio is composed of “credit linked notes”
(embedded derivatives are separated from host contract in line with tAS 39 and recorded as credit
default swaps) and “credit default swaps”. Credit default swaps are contracts, in which the seller
commits ta pay the contract value to the buyer in case of certain credit risk events in return for the
premium paid by the buyer for the contract. Credit default swaps are valued daily while credit linked
notes are valued monthly.

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with
instruments recognized on the statement of financial position but da not necessarily indicate the
amaunts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments, and therefore, do not
indicate the Group’s exposure ta credit or price risks. Derivative instruments become favourable
(assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest
rates relative to their terms.
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6. Derivative financial instwments and hedging activities (continued)

December 31, 2016

Contracü notionaı
amount (aggregate Fair vaıues

of buy and seli) Assets Liabiıitıes

Derivatives held for tmding

Foreign exchange derivatives:
Curreney forwards 15,273,549 339.654 195,859
Curreney swaps 92,020,096 1280,801 1,219,902
Over the counter ÇOTC”) currenoy options 17,590,138 116.930 120,103

Totaı OTC forelpn exchange derivatives 124,883,783 1,731,385 1,535,854

Interest rafa derivatives:
ınterest rafa swaps 47,580,058 337,089 220,099
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 13,076,180 905,910 718,859
OTC interest rafa options 1,671,894 4,401 5,368

Totai OTC ınterest rate derivatives 62,328,132 1,247,400 944,326

Otherderıvaüves 18,267,410 1,988 98,489

Totaı derlvatlve assetsl llablıities heıd for tradıng 205,479,325 2,986,773 2,578,679

Derivatives used for hedging

Derivatives designated as fair vaıue hedges:
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 2,658,411 246,295 50.457

Derivatives designated as cash l9ow hedges:
Interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps 50,014,021 963,417 38,839

Totaı derivative assets/ ılabliitles used for hedgıng 52,672,432 1,209,712 89,296

Totaı recognized derivative assets ıiablıltles 258,151,757 4,196,485 2,667,975

Current 1,969,924 2,207.260
Non-curTent 2,226,561 460.715

Total recognlzed derivailve assetsl ıiabiilties 258,151,757 4,196,485 2,667,975
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8. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

December3l, 2015

ContracU notionaı
amount (aggregate Fair vaıues

of buy and seıl) Assets Liabiılues

Defivatives heid for trading

Foreign exchange derivatives:
Currency forwards 9,676,902 152,220 97,167
Currencyswaps 79,771,246 636,279 1,154,225
Over the counter (“OTC’) currency options 13,430,833 114.815 111,048

Totaı 0W foreign exchange derivatives 102.878,981 903,314 1,362.440

ınterest rate derivatives:
ınterest rate swaps 34,250,180 220,067 131,372
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 12,080,659 548,012 333,311
OTO interest rate options 1.877,668 - 7,582

Totaı OTC interest rate derlvatives 48208,507 768,079 472,265

Other derlvatives 15,142,751 5,276 87,703

Totaı derivative assetsl ılabliitles heid for tmdlng 166,230,239 1,676,669 1,922,408

Derivatives used for hedging

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges:
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,612,361 257.144 4,231

Derivatives designated as cash fiow hedges:
ınterest rate swaps 57,114,076 703,897 144,047

Totaı derivative assetsl ılablııtles used for hedgıng 58,726,437 961041 148,278

Totaı recognized derivative assetsl ııablıltles 224,956676 2,637,710 2,070,686

Current 993,542 1,872,046
Non-current 1,644,168 198,640

Totaı recognızed derivative assetsl ııabıııtles 224,956,676 2,637,710 2,070,686

Fairvalue hedges

Starting from March 1, 2009 and JuIy 28, 2015 for marketable securities, the Group has hedged the
possible fair value effects of changes in market interest rates on part of its flxed interest TL mortgage,
car oan portfolios and marketable securities and fair value effects of changes in foreign exchange
rates on part of its foreign currency denominated funding and marketable securities by using cross
currency interest rate swaps. The net carrying value of hedging derivatives at December 31, 2016 is
an asset amounting ta TL 195,838 (2015 - asset TL 252,913). At December 31, 2016, the marked to
market difference of the hedging derivatives is TL 29,485 gam (2015 - TL 12,560 Ioss), the fair value
difference of the hedged items is Iiability TL 8,587 <2015— Iiability TL 28,479) and their changes in the
fair value for the year amounts ta asset TL 14,710 (2015- Iiability TL 17,963).
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8. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

Cash flow hedges

The Group is exposed to variability in future interest cash flows on non-trading assets and Iiabilities
which bear interest at a variable rate. The Group uses nterest rate swaps as cash 110w hedges of
these interest rate risks.

in order ta hedge its cash flow risk fram Iiabilities, the Group started ta apply cash flaw hedge
accounting fram January 1, 2010 anwards. The hedging instruments are USD, EUR and TL interest
rate swaps and crass currency swaps with flaating receive, flxed pay Iegs. and the hedged item is the
cash outflaws due ta vadable interest payments subject ta repricing USD, EUR and TL customer
deposits, repas and barrawings.

Net Ioss on cash flow hedges reciassifled tü the statement of income

The net Ioss an cash flow hedges reciassifled ta the statement of incame during the twelve month
period ended December 31, 2016 was as faJlows:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Net interest expense (44,407) (89,216)
Taxatian 8,881 17,843

During 2016, a gam af TL 5290 (2015 - TL 6,355 gam) was recognized in the statement of incame
due to hedge ineffectiveness from cash flow hedges.

As af December 31, 2016 the net accumulated gam arising from cash Ilow hedges recognized under
equity, net af reciassificatian ta statement of income and net af tax, is TL 379,149 (2015— TL 267,965
Ioss).

Net investment hedges

The Group hedges part af the currency translation risk of net investments in foreign aperatians
thraugh fareign currency barrowings.

The Group’s Eura denaminated borrawing is designated as a hedge af the net investment in certain af
the Group’s EUR denaminated subsidiaries. The total amaunt of the barrawing designated as a hedge
af the net investment at December 31, 2016 is EUR 386 millian (2015 - EUR 348 million). The fareign
exchange loss of TL 473,112 (December 31, 2015 - TL 311,914), net of tax, an translation af the
barrowing ta TL at the statement of financial position date is recognized in “hedging reserves” in
equity.

Na ineffectiveness fram hedges of net investments in fareign aperations was recognized in profit ar
Ioss duhng the periad (2015- Nane).
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9. Loans and advances to customers

December3l, 2016

Carporate Consumer Credit cards Leasing Factorİng Total

Perforrning laans 118,698,015 29,912,146 21,780,057 7,966,725 2.709.393 181,066,336
Watch hsted Icans 4,369,279 1,165,790 466,554 279,550 174,064 6,455,237
Loans under legal follow- up 4,934,745 2,181,464 1648,934 335,655 141.420 9.242,218

Gross 128,002,039 33,259400 23,895,545 8,581,930 3,024,877 196,763,791

Specifıcallowance for impainnent (3,915,130) (1,429,869) (1,036,735) (280,296) (130,598) (6.792,648)
Collective allowance for

impairment (723,062) (173,531) (44,164) (39,409) (10,126) (990,292)

Total allowance for impairment (4,638,192> (1,603,420) (1,080,899) (319,705> (140,724> (7,782,940)

Net 123,363,847 31,655.980 22,814,646 8,262,225 2,884,153 188,980,851

December3l, 2015
C re d it

Corporate Consumer cards Leasing Factorlng Total

Perfonning Ioans 99,942,255 28,227,078 19,312,167 6,644,822 2,143,844 156,270,166
Watch listed luans 3,048,392 1,198,035 608,349 180,017 89,924 5,124,717
Laans under legal follow - up 3,521,810 1,527,753 1,059,720 279,521 1 30,318 6,519,122

Gross 106,512,457 30,952,866 20,980,236 7,104,360 2,364,086 167,914,005

Speciflc allowance for impairment (2,606,008) (1,009,122) (695,247) (244,005) (104,962) (4,659,344)
Collective allowance for

impaimıent (512,975) <135,119) (36,740) (32,802) (10,126) (727,762)

Total aılowance for impairment <3,118,983) (1,144,241) (731,987) (276,807> (115,088) <5,387,106)

Net 103,393,474 29,808,625 20,248,249 6,827,553 2,248,998 162,526,899

Loans amounting to TL 163,861 (at amortized cost) included in the performing Ioans and advances to
consumers have been designated as hedged items in fair value hedges as of December 31, 2016
(2015- TL 444,417). Those Ioans have been hedged with interest rate swaps as part of a documented
interest rate risk management strategy. The carrying values of such Ioans that are hedged items in fair
value hedges, and otherwise carried at amortized cost, are adjusted to record changes in fair value
attributable to the risks that are being hedged.

Fair value of collateral:

Collateral mainiy comprises the following: cash funds, deposits, mortgages of real estate at the and
registıy and mortgages of real estate built on allocated and, export documents, guarantees, and
acceptances and pledge on vehicles.

December 31, 2016

Corporate Consumer Leasing Total

Walch listed laans 8,309,903 998,699 279,550 9,588,152
Loans under legal follow- up 1,173,649 100,758 335,655 1,610,062

Totaı 9,483,552 1,099,457 615,205 11,198,214
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9. Loans and advances ta customers (continued)

December3l, 2015

Corporate Consumer Leasing Total

Watch listed Ioans 4,795,752 3,214,142 69011 8,078,905
Loans under legal follow- up 643,319 80,044 40,153 763,516

Total 5439,071 3,294,186 109,164 8,842,421

Reconciliation of impairment allowance account for losses on oans and advances by class is as
follows;

Dacember 31, 2016
Corporate Consumer Credlt cards Leasing Factorlng Total

At January 1 3,118,953 1,144,241 731,987 276,807 115,088 5,387,106

Provision for oan impairment 1,659,568 589,705 405,970 57,262 26,873 2,739,378
Amounts recovered

during the yaar (149,981) (134,352) (57,565> (14,364) (906) (357168>
Loans written oft during the year

as uncollectible () (1) (111) (498) (4> - (331) (944)
Exchangedifterences 9,733 4,324 511 - - 14568

At December 31 4,638,192 1,603,420 1,080,899 319,705 140,724 7,782,940

December3l, 2015
Corporate Consumer Credit cards Leasing Factoring Tabi

At January 1 2,430,950 774,016 383,025 235,721 77,619 3,901,334

Provision for ban impairment 1,210,010 419,920 371523 68,971 38,746 2,109,170
Amounts recovered

during the year (481,849) (44,880) (20,511) (27,263> (1,275> (575,778)
Loans written off during the yaar

as uncollectible (-) (37.568) (44) (16) (622) (2) (38,252)
Exchange differences (2.560> (4,771) (2,037) - - (9.368)

AtDecember3l 3,118,933 1,144,241 731,987 276,807 116,088 5,387,106

(1> lncludes the eftect of provision releases dua to sales from loans under legal follow — up.
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9. Laans and advances ta customers (continued)

The calculation of net investment in direct finance leases iş as follows:

December3l, 2016 December 311 2015

Gross investment in direct fınance leases 9,786,865 8,255,854
Unearned finance income (1,529,623) <1,275,248)

6,257,242 6980,606

Interest accrual on receivabıes 120,146 87,171
Receivables from outstanding lease payments 204,542 36,583
Provision for impaired lease receivables (319,705) (276,807)

Net investment in direct finance leases 8,262,225 6,827,553

Lease payments receivable consists of rentals over the tenis of leases. The rentais according to
maturity are as follows:

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Less than 1 year 2,798,694 2,253,769
More than 1 year but not later than 5 years 5,736,824 4,836,063
Later than 5 years 960,830 830,218
Less: unearned fınance income (1,529,623) (1,275,246)

Investment in performing ıease receivabıes 7,966,725 6,644,822
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10. Investment securities

(i) Securities available-for-sale

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Debt securities - at fair vaiue:
Government bonds and treasury bills 10796,625 9,884,293
Eurobonds 1,602,741 2,109,775
Government and corporate bonds and treasury bilis
said under repurchase agreements 3,651,723 7,973,339

Eurobonds said under repurchase agreements . 415,824
Other 2,054,913 2,060,089

Equity securities - at fair vaiue:
Listed 60,849
Uniisted 50,455 259,843

Total securities available-for-sale 18,217306 22,703,163

Curent 973,154 3,691.537
Non-current 17,244,152 19.011,626

Government bonds, treasury bilis and Eurobonds are discount and coupon securities issued by the
Government of the Republic of Turkey. Other securities mainiy represent A and B type open-ended
mutuaJ funds incorporated in Turkey managed by the Group and credit hnked notes and other bonds
issued by domestic and foreign financial institutions.

Net Joss from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investment securities, net of tax is TL
178,462 <2015- TL 671 .750 net loss). There are no impairments recognized for available-for-sale debt
securities.

The movement in available-for-sale securities during the years is as follows:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

At January 1 22,703,163 18,674,522
Additions 14,426,408 20,576,985
Disposais / redemption (16,765,939) (15,667,840)
Transfer<h> (1,960,740)
Changes in fair value (194,340) (870,639)
Exchange ditferences on monetary assets 8,754 (9,865)

At December 31 18,217,306 22,703,163

(1) On July 18, 2016, the Group ciassifled some of its govemment debt securities from available-for-sale ta
heid-to-maturiiy portfoho with a nominal amount of TL 1,970.607, The fair vaiue of the aforementioned
securities a5 of Juiy 18, 2016 is TL 2,008.079 and has 8 years matudty in average.
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10. Investment securitles (continued)

(ii) Securities heid-to-maturity

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Debt securities - at amortized cost - iisted:
Government bonds and treasury biiis 3829504 1606,546
Eurobonds 3,969,341 2,275,619
Government bonds and treasury bifls

said under repurchase agreements 1,099,964 542,745
Eurobonds soid under repurchase agreement 1890,245 2,193,716
Foreign govemment bonds 799,836 490,183

Tabi secudties heid-to-mahıdty 11.588,890 7,108,809

Curren! 1,127,845 233,872
Non-current 10,461.045 6,874,937

The movement in heid-to-maturity securities during the years is as foilows:

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Atjanuary 1 7,108,809 5,556,369
Additions 1,703,125 913,249
Redemptions <283.389) (220,904)
Transfe$2> 1,960,740 -

Other<1 1,099,605 860,095

At December3l 11,588,890 7,1 08,809

<2) inciudes the effect of exchange differences, impairment and change5 in interest income accruais.

(3) On Juiy 18, 2016, the Group ciassifled some of its govemment debt securities from avaiiabie-for-saie to
heid-to-maturity portfoho wfth a nominal amount of TL 1,970,607. The fair value of the aforemenüoned
securities as of July 18,2016 is TL 2,008,079 and has 8 years maturity in average.

11. investment in associate

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

At January 1 545,225 456,584
Share of resuits 88,099 49,009
Dividends paid (7,645) (21,934)
Exchange difference 38,935 61,566

At December 31 664,614 545,225
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12. Investment in joint venture valued at net equity

As et December 31, 2016, the Group has one investment in e jointly controlled entity,

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

AtJanuary 1 20,851 19,054
Share of results (2,737) 1,797

At December3l 18,114 20,851

The infomiation about the jointly controlled entity iş giyen below as of December 31, 2016:

The Parent Bank’s Group’s Nojı- Long
shareholding shareholdlny Totaishareholderı’ Current current term

percentage percentage assets egulty assets assets debts Income Eapense

Yapı Kredi Koray
Gayrimenkul Yatırım

orlaklığığ.Ş. 30.45 30.45 107,248 64,025 50,478 56,770 8,422 54,011 (60269)

Total 30.45 30.45 107,248 64,025 50,478 56,770 8,422 54,011 (60,269)

13. Goodwill

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

AtJanuary 1 1,023,528 1,023,528
lmpairment charge - -

AtDecember3l 1,023,528 1,023,528

Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently when there are indications that
impairment may have occurred. A +0.251-0.25% change in discount rate and +11-1% change in growth
rate used in the valuation model does not result in impairment.

The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined based on value in use calculations, using
cash flow projections based on IFRS financial budgets approved by management and on strategic
plans covering a five year period. The calculation of value in use (“VIU”) is most sensitive to interest
margin, discount rates, market share, projected growth rates and local economic indicators.

Discount rates used in the calculations reflect the current market assessment of the Bank’s operatians.
The method for determining the pre-tax discount rate is ta first calculate the VIU using post tax cash
flows and discount rates, then salving the pre-tax discount rate which gives the same VIU as in the
post- tax calculatian. The pre-tax discount rate is assumed to be 15.75% and terminal value is
calculated with a long term grawth rate of 4%.

Based on the analysis perfarmed, management believes that there is no indication for an impairment
for goodwill et December 31, 2016 (2015- None).

14. Other intangible assets

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Cost 1,064,686 945,344
Accumulated amortization (477,264> (416,433)

Net book value 587,422 528,911
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14. Other intangible assets (continued)

Movements of other intangible assets were as follows:

Trademarks and
Rights and customer relatlonships

December 31, 2016 Ilcenses Software related Intangibles Total

Cost
AtJanuary 1 325,337 456,923 163,084 945,344
Additions 122113 57,587 . 179,700
Disposais (18,834) (41,654) . (60.488)
Transfers (44,001) 44,001
Translation ditferences 387 (257) 130

At December 31 385,002 516,600 163,084 1,064,686

Accumulated amortizatlon
At January 1 (60,667) (192,682) (163,054) (416,433)
Amortization charge (Nota 32) (27,574) (97,147) (124,721)
Disposais 18,682 41.578 . 60.260
Translation differences 2,870 760 . 3,630

At December 31 (66,689> (241,491> (163,084) (477,264)

Net book value at December 31 318,313 269,109 - 587,422

Trademarks and
Rlghts and customer relatlonshlps

December 31, 2015 Ilcenses Software related intangibles Total

Cost
At January 1 277,358 397,051 163,084 837,493
Additions 127.757 59.336 - 187,093
Disposais (8,103) (64,691) - (72,794)
Transfers (71.097) 71,097 -

Translation differences (578) (5,870) . (6,448)

At December 31 325,337 456,923 163,084 945,344

Accumuıated amortization
At January 1 (49,858) (158,564> (150,893) (359,615)
Amodization charge (Note 32) (26,046) (88,703) (12,191) (126,940)
Disposais 7,280 64,522 . 71 .802
Transfers 11,104 (11,104)
Translation differences (3,147) 1,467 . (1,680)

At December 31 (60,667) (192,682> (163,084> (416,433>

Net book value at December 31 264,670 264,241 - 528,911

The Group assigned a consultancy fırm for the valuation of intangible assets determined as a credit
card trademark, customer base and relationship that couid be measured reliabiy and for which the
future economic benefit is embodied in the asset during the merger of the Bank with Koçbank. in line
with the report dated February 13, 2006 the Group recognized TL 163,084 of intangible assets in its
consolidated financial statements. Identified intangible assets are amortized using the straight-iine
method over their usefui iives, which have been assessed as 10 years.
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15. Property and equipment

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Cost 4005753 3.914.006
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2.738047) (2,632.955)

Net book vaıue 1,267,706 1,281,051

Furniture and
fixtures,

Land and Oftice vehlcıes Leasehaid
Oecember3l, 2016 buiıdlngs eguipment and other improvements Total

Cost
At January 1 2,363,058 901,608 418,620 230,720 3,914,006
Additions 72,123 108,559 14,701 20,178 215,561
Disposals (5,591) (30,142) (49,695) (32,128) (117,556)
Transfers . (47,599) 49,879 (2,280>
Translation difterence (8,801) 1,886 (655) 1,312 (6,258)

At December3l 2,420,789 934,312 432,850 217,802 4,005,153

Accumuıated depreciation and impairment
AtJanuary 1 (1,716,644) (585,437) (250,267> (80,607> (2,632,955>
Depreciation charge (Note 32) (24,639) (108,834) (32,761) (42,586) (208,820)
Disposais 4,451 25,250 49,695 22,825 102,221
Transfers . 47,599 (49,879) 2,280 -

Reversal of impairment - - 211 505 716
Translatian difference (2,656) (5,051) 8,844 (346) 791

At December 31 (1,739,488) <626,473) (274,157) (97,929> (2,738,047)

Net book vaıue at December 31 681,301 307,839 158,693 119,873 1,267,706

Furniture and
fixtures,

Land and Offlce vehlcıes Leasehold
Oecember 31, 2015 buildlngs eguipment and other lmprovements Total

Cost
At January 1 2,350,456 81 0,716 357,212 232,612 3,750,996
Additions 16.056 159,481 93.099 44,076 312,712
Disposais (4,597) (18,551) (67.160) (32.593) (122,901)
Transfers . (37,758) 37,487 271
Transıation difterence 1,143 (12.280) (2.018> (13,646) (26.801)

At December3l 2,363,058 901,608 418,620 230,720 3,914,006

Accumuıated depreciation and impainnent
At January 1 (1,803,396) (550,201) (212,471) (75,055) (2,641,123)
Depreciation charge (Note 32) (30,226) (99,950) (31.328) (43,937) (205.441)
Dispasaıs 3,342 18.547 29,285 32,593 83.767
Transfers - 37,758 (37.487) (271)
Reversaı af impairment 1 13.417 - . - 1 13,417
Translation difterence 219 8409 1.734 6,063 16,425

At December 31 (1,116,644) (585,437> (250,267) (80,607> (2,632,955)

Net book value at December 31 546,414 316171 168,353 150,113 1,281,051

At December 31, 2016, total impairment provision on property and equipment of the Parent Bank
amounts to TL 239,865 (2015- TL 213,331).
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16. Otherassets

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Collateral giyen 1,946,017 1,125,760
Prepaid expenses 709,926 518,322
Advancesgiven 515,089 463,175
Miscellaneous receivable 364,648 100,128
Gold stocks 202,950 153,905
Assets heid for sale, net 182,079 169,118
Othedt) 1,397,184 1.085,810

5,317,893 3,616,218

Current 5,120,708 3,419,735
Non-current 197,185 196,483
(1> Other line item mainiy consists of receivables from clearıng houses related with interbank. credit card, payments for credit

card settlements and cheque transactions.

Assets heid for saPa represent mainiy foreciosed assets received against uncollectible Joans and
advances ta customers, ta be sold as required by the Turkish Banking Law. These assets mainiy
consist of real-estate. The Group’s policy 5 to dispose of these assets within five years in accordance
with Turkish Banking Law, Movements in assets hePd for resale during the years, were as follows:

2016 2015

Cost
At January 1 177,244 178,199
Additions 98,410 71,898
Disposais (86,974) (73,060)
Translation differences (383) 207

At December 31 188,297 177,244

İmpairment
AtJanuary 1 (8,126) (9,199)
Reversal of impairment for the year, net 1,908 1,073

At December 31 (6,218) (8,126)

Net book amount at December 31 182,079 169,118
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17. Deposits from banks

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015
Demand Term Total Demand Term Total

Foreign currency:
Domestic banks 413,004 380,625 793,629 577 29,076 29,653
Foreign banks 63,453 1,657,210 1,720,663 260,655 1,507,043 1,767,698
Fundş deposited under

repurchase agreements - 1,979,688 1,979,688 - 2,165.386 2,165,386

476,457 4,011,523 4,493,980 261,232 3,101,505 3962,137

TL:
Domeştic banks 19,063 5.482,975 5,502,038 149 2,190,405 2,190.554
Foreign banks 118,130 37,665 155,795 88,555 1,039,862 1,128,417
Fundş deposited under

repurchase agreements - 3,659,430 3,659,430 - 8,103,461 8,103,461

137,193 9,180,070 9,317263 88,704 11,333,728 11,422,432

613,650 13,197,593 13,811,243 349,936 15,035,233 15,385,169

Current 613.650 13,110,540 13,724,190 349,936 15,002,161 15,352,097
Non-current - 87,053 87.053 - 33.072 33.072

18. Customer deposits

December3l,2016 December 311 2015
Demand Term Total Demand Term Total

Foreign currency deposlts:
Saving deposits 5,259,160 22,684,150 27,943,310 4,111,032 19,705,185 23,816,217
Commercial deposits 8,033,767 34,358,576 42,392,343 5,899,134 31,350.568 37,249,702

13,292,927 57,042726 70,335,653 10,010,166 51,055,753 61665,919

TL deposits:
Saving deposiis 6,145,162 34,938,530 41,083,692 4.219,828 29,342,955 33,562,783
Commercial deposits 6,899,733 30,362,121 37,261854 4.898,385 24,474.484 29,372,869
Funds deposited under

repurcbase agreements - 634.683 634,683 146,686 146,686
Publicsedordeposits 230,784 4,087 234,871 833,607 73,568 907,175

13,215,619 65,939,421 79,215,100 9,951,820 54,037,693 63,989,513

26,568,606 122,982,147 149,550,753 19,961,986 105,093,446 125,055,432

Current 26,568.606 121,883,978 148,452,584 19,961,986 104,119.190 124,081,176
Non-current - 1,098.169 1.098,169 - 974.256 974.256
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19. Funds borrowed

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Foreign institutions and banks
Syndication Ioans 8,765,744 7,586,105
Subordinated debt 3,727,751 3,716,041
Other 19,369,395 15,297,513

Total foreign 31,862,890 26,599,659

Domestic institutions and banks
Domestic banks 2,373,635 1,977,362
Interbank money market and SetüementCustody Bank 2,931,228 3,848,001

Total domestic 5,304,863 5,825,363

37,167,753 32,425,022

Current 24,990,528 5,825,068
Non-current 12,177,225 26,599,954

On May 15, 2015, the Parent Bank paid a subordinated ban before its maturity amounting to EUR 500
million, with 10 years matudty which was ohginated on March 31, 2006. The interest rate was
EURIBOR+3% <for the first five years it was EURIBOR+2%). The ban was obtained from Merriil Lynch
Capital Corporation with UniCredito Itabiano SpA. as guarantor.

The Parent Bank obtained a subordinated ban on June 25, 2007 amounting to EUR 200 million, with
10 years maturity and a repayment option at the end of 5 years. The interest rate was determined as
EURIBOR+1.85% for the first 5 years and EURIBOR+2.78% for the remaining 5 years. The oan was
obtained from Citibank, NA., London Branch with Unicredito Italiano SpA as guarantor. On June 30,
2016, the Parent Bank paid the subordinated oan before its maturity amounting to EUR 200 million.

The Parent Bank had early repaid its borrowing for USD 585 million on January 9, 2013 the Bank has
received from Unicredit Bank Austria AG on February 22, 2012 with an interest rate of 3 months Libor
+ 8.30% and received another subordinated borrowing from the same counterparty for USD 585
million with 10 years of maturity (payable after 5 years) and 5.5% fixed interest rate. The Parent Bank
incurred an early payment fee for TL 57 million with respect to early cbosing of this subordinated oan.
As per the approval of BRSA dated December 31, 2012 this oan was accepted as a subordinated
ban. On January 30, 2015, rebevant articles of this agreement have been amended in accordance with
Article 8 of the Regulation Regarding Equity of Banka, which is the relevant begislation in force issued
by the BRSA. bn addition, the interest rate in the credit agreement has been updated as 570%.

The Parent Bank obtained a subordinated ban on December 18, 2013 amounting to USD 470 miblion,
with 10 years maturity and a repayment option at the end of 5 years. The interest rate is determined
as 6.35% for the first 5 years and midswap÷4.68% for the remaining 5 years. The ban was obtained
from Unicredit Bank Austria AG. On January 30, 2015, rebevant aflicbes of this agreement have been
amended in accordance with Articbe 8 of the Regulation on Own Fund of Banks. bn addition, the
interest rate has been amended tü 6.55%.
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20. Debt securities in issue

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Securitization borrowings 6,564,507 6,083,274
Subordinated debt 5,340,142 2,919,150
BilIs 1,486,456 2,558,057
Bonds 5,917,794 5,136,577

19,308,899 16,697,058

Current 5,837,213 5,327,436
Non-current 13,471,686 11,369,622

19,308,899 16,697,058

On November 29, 2012, the Parent Bank issued a Basel Il compliant 10 year bullet subordinated note
for an amount of USD 1 bilhon. The note has a 5.5% coupon and was counted towards capital at 30%
as of December 31, 2016.

On March 8, 2016, the Parent Bank Iaunched a Basel ili compliant subordinated note transaction with
a 10 year 1 day maturity and an early payment option at the end of the Sth year for an amount of USD
500 million. The note has an 8.5% coupon.

21. Financial Liabilities Designated at FairValue

The Group classifled some of its debt securities issued as financial Iiabilities designated at fair value in
order to ehminate the accounting mismatch at initial recognition in accordance with IAS 39 paragraph
9. As of December 31, 2016, the total amount of financial Iiabilities designated at fair value through
profıMoss is TL 3,938,694 (December 31, 2015-TL 3,253,119) and the [air value gam iş TL 19,783
(December 31, 2015-TL 96,945 gam) recognized in the income statement as income.

The nominal amcunis of the total return swaps which are cioseiy related to debt securities issued as
fınancial Iiabilities designated at fair value as of December 31, 2016 are TL 4,033,003 (December 31,
2015: TL 3,332,109) for buy legs and TL 4,033,003 (December 31, 2015: TL 3,332,109) for seJi Iegs
with a fair value differences amounting to TL 97,254 (December 31, 2015: 82,870 TL). The mentioned
total return swaps have 10 years maturity in average.
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22. Taxation

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Current tax expense (658,037) (407,515)
Deferred tax expense (123.899) (250109)
Income tax expense <781,936) <657,624)

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its subsidiades ta file a consalidated tax
return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, have
been calculated on a separate-entity basis.

Through the enactment of Corporate Tax Law No.5520 (“New Corporate Tax Law”) published in the
Offlcial Gazette No.26205 dated June 21, 2005, corporation tax is payable at the rate of 20% effective
from January 1, 2006 on the total income of entities in Turkey after adjusting for certain disallowable
expenses, exempt income and investment and other allowances. Na further tax is payable unless profıt
is distributed,

Dividends paid ta non-resident corporations, which have a place of business in Turkey, or resident
corporations are not subject to withholding tax. Otheımise, dividends paid are subject to withholding tax
at the rate of 15%.

Corporations are required to pay advance corporate tax quarterly at a rate of 20% on their corporate
income. Advance tax is deciared by the l4th and paid by the l7th day of the second month following
each calendar quarter end. Advance tax paid by corporations for the current period is credited against
the annual corporation tax calculated on the annual corporate income in the following year. Despite the
offset, if there is temporary prepaid tax remaining, this balance can be refunded or used ta offset any
other fınancial Iiabilities ta the government.

75% portion of the capital gains derived from the sale of equity investments and immovable properties
heid for at least two years is tax exempt, it such gains are added ta paid-in capital or kept in a special
fund for 5 years in accordance wfth the New Corporate Tax Law.

Under the Turkish taxabon system, tax losses can be carried foıward for offtet against future taxable
income for up ta 5 years. Tax losses cannot be carried back ta oftset profıts from previous periods.

in Turkey, there is no procedure for a fınal and definifive agreement on tax assessments. Corporations
ille their tax returns by the 25tfl day of the fourth month following the ciose of the financial year ta which
they relate. Tax retums are open for 5 years from the beginning of the year that follows the date of fihing
during which the tax authorities have the dght to audit tax returns, and the related accounting records on
which they are based, and if they flnd any corrections then the tax amount to be paid might be changed
as weli.

Under the investment ahlowance regime apphicable as of December 31, 2005, capitah expenditures, over
RİO thousand, with some exceptions, are eligible for an investnıent incenüve aflowance of 40% and
exempted from corporate income tax and this aJlowance is not subject ta withholding tax without the
requirement of an investment incentive certifıcate. bnvestment allowances are deferred ta the following
years in cases where corporate income is insuwıcient. lnvestment alhowances utihized within the scope of
an investment incentive certifıcates granted prior to April 24, 2003 in accordance with provisions of the
income Tax Law Temporary Article 61 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 19.8%, irrespective of
profit distribution.
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22. Taxation (continued)

As of January 1,2006, the investment allowance regime has been abolished with Law No.5479,

Under temporary article 69 of the Income Tax Law, a transition period of three years has been provided
for income and corporate taxpayers who have investment incentive allowance rights as of December 31,
2005 which have not yet been utilized and which have been deferred to the following years where
corporate income may be insufficient and where the investment allowance wili be earned from the
investment expenditures made for ongoing projects as of December 31, 2005. According to this,
investment allowances which are calcutated in accordance with temporary artic(e 61 and article no: 19 of
the Income Tax Law can be utilized for the income generated in the years 2006, 2007 and 2008 in
accordance with the articles valid on December 31, 2005. Therefore the applicable corporate tax rate is
30% in case of benefiting from investment allowances. Tax payers have to inform the relevant tax office
until the submission date of the first quarter advance tax return that they opt to utilize investment
allowance in accordance with the Circular numbered KVK-3 /2006-3 /lnvestnıent Allowance 2 issued by
Ministry of Finance. The choice of benefiting from investment allowance cannot be changed in the
annual tax retum term.

As per the Law numbered 6009, taxpayers are permitted ta deduct the investment incentive amount to
a limit that does not exceed 25% of the related revenues (within the context of December 31, 2005
legislation incJuding the provision on tax rate stated in the second paragraph of temporary Article 61 of
income tax legislation) from their income subject to tax.

ln the Constitutional Court’s meeting dated February 9, 2012; it was decided that the sentence “In so
far as, the amount to be deducted as investment allowance in the determination of tax base cannot
exceed 25% of the related profit” added to the first paragraph of the article 69 of the lncome Tax Law
with the article 5 of the Law no. 6009 was unconstitutional and would be cancelled. Furthermore, since
the sentence in question was cancelled in the same meeting with the decision no. E. 2011/93. K.
2012120 dated February 9, 2012, it was decided that it would be invalidated until it was published on
the Official Gazette in order to prevent situations and losses emerging from the application of this
sentence, which were difficult to recover, and not to leave the cancellation decision inconclusive. This
decision was published on the Official Gazette on February 18, 2012.

Apart from the above mentioned exemptions considered in the detemıination of the corporate income tax
base, allowances stated in Corporate Income Tax Law Article 8, 9 and 10, and Income Tax Law Article
40 are also taken into considerabon.

Reconciliation between the theoretical tax amount that would arise using the basic tax rate of the
Parent Bank and the actual taxation charge for the year is stated below:

December 311 December 31,
2016 2015

Profıt before income taxes 4,030,271 3,347,808

Theoretical income fax at the applicable fax rate of 20% 806,054 669,562
Effect of different fax rates in other countries 6,061 4,012
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation
purposes:

- Income exempt from laxation (34859) (43,805>
- Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes (31 933) 3,687

Other 36,613 24,168

Income tax expense 781,936 657,624
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22. Taxation (continued)

Deferred income taxes

For ali domestic subsidiades and the Parent Bank, deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary
differences that are expected to be realized or settled under the iiability method using a principai tax
rate of 20% at December 31, 2016 (2015- 20%).

For foreign subsidiaries deferred income taxes are calculated on ali temporary differences under the
iiabiiity method before the exemptions using the phncipal tax rates at December 31, 2016 and 2015
which are as follows:

Tax rate (%)
December 31, December 31,

Country of incorporation 2016 2015

Russia 20.00 20.00
Netherlands 25.00 25.00
Azerbaijan 20.00 20.00
Malta 35.00 35.00

The deferred income tax assets and iiabilities represent the tax effect of temporary differences arising
due to the different treatment of certain items of income and expenses included in the financial
statements compared to the iocal tax return in accordance with the applicabie tax law plus any
available tax ioss carried foıward from previous years.

The temporary differences giving rise to the deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax
iiabilities are as foiiows:

cumuıative Temporaiş Oliferences Deferred Tax ğsseuLıabılıty
Decemberal, Oecember3l, Decemberal, Oecember3l,

2016 2015 2016 2015

Impaimıent on assets 363910 422556 35714 50448
Atlowanceforloan impairment 1,015,922 971.134 203,143 194,190
Pension benefıts transferable to ha Sociaı Secuhty Insti:ution

çSSr) (Nota 24> 568,006 574,249 113.601 114,850
Reserve foremploymenttermir.ation benefıts (Nota 24) 129.510 141.388 26,386 32.566
Reyalualion of dehvat;ve instruments Bt (air value 2.711,672 2.108,733 542.334 414,519
Valuation difterentes on investment secudües 59,754 45,165 11.951 9.039
Other 1.251.350 744.799 250.270 148,796

Deferred ıncome taz assets 6,100,124 5.008,074 1,186.401 964,408

Difterence beween carrying value and tax basa of property and
euuıpment 698.636 697,225 61.975 82.803

Vauation difterencas on investment secwitıes 522,134 607,755 104.545 121.578
Revaluation of denvative instruments at fair value 4,286.432 2.784.063 853,266 561.587
Oüıer 295,149 77,551 60,241 15.510

Oeferred ıncome taz ııabıııues 5,782,351 4,166,614 1,100,047 781,478

Deferred Income tax assets, I) 317,773 941,450 86,354 182,930

(1> Inctudes TL 7,892 deferred tax liabilities as ot December 31. 2016 (December 31, 2015— TL 2,970 habilities),
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22. Taxation (continued)

The movements of net deferred income taxes during the years were as follows:

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

BaıanceatJanuary 1 182,930 354,976

(Charge) / credit for the year, net (123899) (250,109)
Available-for-sale revaluation reserve 15878 198889
Net investment hedge 40,299 24065
Cash flowhedge (27,796) (141,241)
Re-measurement gains on defined beneflt iability (375) (3,968)
Other (683) 318

Baıance at December 31 86,354 182,930

There are na deductible temporary differences for which na deferred tax asset is recognized in the
statementoffinancial position (2015- None).

Income tax effects relating ta components of other comprehensive income

December3l, 2016 Decemberal, 2015
Before Tax (expense) Net-of tax Before tax Tax (ezpense) Net-of tax

tax amount benefit amount amount benefit amount

Foreign currency translation dıfferences 326,535 - 326535 105,088 - 105,088
Fair vatue gains on available-for- sale fınancial

assets (including translation difference) (194.340) 15870 (170,462) (870,639) 198,889 (671,750)
Net investment hedge (201,497) 40,299 (161,198) (120,327) 24,065 (96,262)
Cash itow hedge 138,981 (27,796) 111,185 706,218 (141,241) 564,977
Re-measurement gains on detned benefıt Iiability 2,120 (375) 1,745 20,478 (3,968) 16,510
Revatuation of art object and paintings - - - 14,868 - 14,868

Other comprehensive Income for the year (net
presentatıon) 71,799 28,006 99,805 (144,314) 11,745 (66,569)
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23. Other provisions

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Provision for losses on credit related commitments 391204 410,785
Tax and other legal provisions 138,852 125,134
Provision on export commitment estimated liability 45,690 46,052
Other 189,268 131,498

765,014 713,469

Current - -

Non-current 765,014 713,469

Gredit related commitments provision

The Group management has estimated losses that may arise from credit related commitments and
has recognized a provision of TL 391,204 (2015 - TL 410,785).

Tax and other legal provisions

The Group has recorded a provision of TL 75,955 (2015 - TL 64,875) for litigation and has accounted
for it in the financial statements under the “Other provisions” account. Except for the cases where
provisions are recorded, management considers that negative results in ongoing litigations resulting in
cash outflows is not probable.

The Group also recorded a total provision of TL 62,897 (2015- TL 60,259) against potentialtax risks in
the form of possible tax duties and pnalties in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December3l, 2016.

Export commitment provision

The Group management has estimated losses that may arise from export loans to customers under
legal follow-up where they do not have the ability to fulflll their export commitments and have
recognized a provision of TL 45,690 (2015- TL 46,052).

Movement in other provisions is as follows:

Provislon for Taz and Expoft
credit rolated other legal commltment 2016 2015
commitments provlslons provislons Olber Total Total

AtJanuary 1 410,785 125,134 46,052 131,498 713.469 710,139

Provision öıared 24.426 23.633 2,589 101,446 152094 185.471
Provision used 1 released (44.0£9) (9.915) (2,951) (43.676) (100,611) (181,894)
Trans!aüon difference 62 . - - 62 (247)

Balance atoecember3l 391.204 133.852 45.690 189,268 765,014 713.489
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24. Retirement benefit obligations

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Statement of fınancial position abligatians for:
- Post employment benefits (pension and medical)

transferable ta 551 568,006 574,249
- Reserve for employment termination benefits 129,510 141,388

697,516 715,637

Income statement (charge) / credit for:
- Post employment benefits (pension and medical)

tranaferable ta SSI 6,243 80652
- Reserve for employment terminaUan beneflts (30,757) (49,143)

(24,514> 31,509

Incame statement charge for retirement benefit obligations has been recognized as a separate line
item in the incame statement for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

(i) Post-employment beneflts (pension and medical> transferable ta SSI

The Parent Bank’s personnel are members af the Yapı ve Kredi Bankası Anonim Şirketi Mensupları
Yardım ve Emekli Sandığı Vakfı (“the Fund”) which was established in accardance with the 2Oth
temporary article of the Social Security Law Na. 506. The technical fınancial statements of the Fund
are audited in accardance with the Article 38 of the Insurance Supervision Law and the “Regulation
Regarding the Actuaries” by a registered independent actuary.

Temporary article 23 paragraph one of the Banking Act published in the Official Gazette Na 25983
dated Navember 1, 2005 stated that foundatians like the Fund are to be transferred ta the Sacial
Security lnstitutian (“551’) within three years beginning from the publication date of the article.

The article of the Law related ta the transfer was cancelled (pursuant ta the applicatian by the
President on November 2, 2005) by the decisian of Constitutional Court (decision na: E.2005139, K.
2007/33 dated March 22, 2007) published in the Offlcial Gazette Na. 26479 dated Maroh 31, 2007,
and the effect af the legal article was suspended fram the date of the publication of the decision.

The reasaning af the Canstitutianal Caurt regarding the abrogatian of the carrespanding article was
published in the Oficial Gazette dated December 15, 2007, Na 26372. With the publicatian af the
reasoning af the decisian, the Grand Natianal Assembly of Turkey (“GNAT”) started ta work an new
legal arrangements regarding the transfer af fund members ta 551 and the related articles af the “Law
Regarding the Changes in Sacial Insurance and General Health Insurance Law and Other Related
Laws and Regulations” Na 5754 (“the New Law”) regulating the transfer of the funds were appraved
by the GNAT an April 17, 2008. The New Law was published in the OWıcial Gazette Na. 26870 dated
May 8, 2008. With the new law, the banks’ pensian funds wilI be transferred ta SSI within three years
fram the date af publicatian of the decree and this periad can be extended for a maximum af twa years
on the decisian af the Council of Ministers. The transfer period was extended for anather twa years
with the decision of the Council af Ministers Na. 2011/1 559 published in the Offlcial Gazette dated
April 9, 2011. Accarding ta the “Amendment af Social Insurance and General Health Insurance Law
Na. 6283” published in the Offlcial Gazette dated March 8, 2012, the Cauncil af Ministers was
autharized ta increase the twa-year extension periad mentianed abave ta faur years. Accarding ta the
decision af The Council af Ministers February 24, 2014, the transfer date was set as May 2015. The
Council af Ministers was autharized ta determine the transfer date of pension funds in accordance with
the last amendment in the first paragraph af the 2Oth pravisianal article af Law Na.5510 implemented
by the Law Na. 6645 an Amendment af the Occupational Health and Safety Law and Other Laws and
Decree Laws published in the Official Gazette dated April 23, 2015 and numbered 29335.
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24. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

.4 commission (whose members are the representatives of the SSI, the Ministry of Finance, Turkish
Treasury, State Planning Organization, BRSA, Saving Deposit Insurance Fund (“SDIF”), one member
representing the Fund and one member representing the Fund members) is in charge of the
calculation of the value of the payment that would need to be made to 551 to selle the obligation a
technical interest rate of 9.8% by law is used taking into consideration income and expenses by
insurance branches of the funds and the excess of salaries and income paid by the funds over the
salaries and income to be paid in accordance with the SSI arrangements which should not be Iess
than SSI arrangements, related to the members of the Fund as of the date of the transfer including the
members who have Ieft the scheme.

in accordance with the New Law, after the transfer to 551, any social dghts and payments to Fund
members and their beneficiaries which are not provided although they are included in the Fund Title
Deed wiil continue to be provided by the Fund and the employers of the Fund members.

The Parent Bank accounts for a provision for the technical defıcit based on the report prepared by a
registered actuary in accordance with the rates determined by the New Law.

The actuarial statement of financial position of the Fund has been prepared in accordance with a
technical interest rate of 9.80% and CSO 1980 mortallty table and reflects a technical defıcit of TL
568006 on December 31, 2016 <2015- TL 574249).

The Group’s obligation in respect of the post-employment pension and medical benefits transferable to
SSI has been determined as the value of the payment that would need to be made to SSI to settle the
obligation at the statement of financial position date in accordance with the related article of the New
Law and other related Iaws and regulations. The pension disclosures set out below therefore refleot
the actuarial parameters and results in accordance with the New Law provisions.

The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Present value of ftinded obligations 1964,448 1,757,364
- Pension benefifs transferable fr, S3f 1,882,467 1,889,880
- Post-employment medical benelits transfemble ta 5Sf 81,981 (132.516)
Fairvalue of plan assets (1,396,442) (1,183,115)

Liability in the statement of flnancial position 568,006 574,249

The principal actuarial assumpUons used were as follows:

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015
(%) (%)

Discount rate
- Pension benefits transferable to SSI 9.80 9.80
- Post-employment medical benefjts transferable to SSI 9.80 9.80

The sensitivity analysis of defıned benefit obligation of excess Habilities is as follows:

% change in defined benefıt obligaüon
%

Discount rate +1% (16.6)
Discount rate -1% 22.1
Price infiation +1% 32.6
Pdce infiation -1% (22.3)
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24. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Mortality rate

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner is defined according to CSO 1980 mortality table.

Plan assets are as follows:

December3l,2016 December3l, 2015

Gank placements 831,034 60% 728,589 62%
Govemment bonds and treasury bilıs 233,858 17% 168,951 14%
Property and eguipment 223,150 16% 223,142 19%
Other 108,400 7% 62,433 5%

1,396,442 100% 1,183,115 100%

The fair value of the property and equipment occupied by the Group is TL 223,150 (2015 - TL
223,142).

(ii) Reseıve for employment termination benefits

The movement in the reserve for employee termination beneflts is as follows:

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

BaıanceatJanuary 1 141,388 141,134

Interest costs 6,504 4,940
Actuarial gains and losses (2,120> (20,478>
Annuaı charge 24,253 44,203
Paid during the year (40,431> (28,238)
Translation difterence (84) (1 73)

Balance at December 31 129,510 141,388

Under the Turkish Labour Law, the Parent and its domestic subsidiades are required to pay
termination beneflis to each employee who has completed at least one year of seMce and whose
employment is terminated without due cause, is called up for military service. dies or who retires after
completing 25 years of service (20 years for women) and achieves the retirement age (63 for women
and 64 for men>. Since the legislation was changed on September 8, 1999, there are certain
transitional provisions reJating to length of service prior to retirement. The amount payable consists of
one month’s salary limited to the annual ceiling for each year of seMce.
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24. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

There are no agreements for pension commitments other than the legal requirement as explained
above. The Oability is not funded, as there is na funding requirement.

IFRS requires actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate the enterprise’s obligation
under defıned benefit plans. in the consolidated fınancial statements, the Group refiected a liabiiity
calculated using the projected unit credit method and based upon the factors derived using their
experience of personnel terminating their services and being eligibie to receive empioyment
termination benefits. The provision has been caiculated by estimating the present value of the future
probable obiigation of the Group arising from the retirement of the employees.

Accordingiy the following fınancial and demographical actuariai assumptions were used in the
calculations of the provision:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Discount rate (°İo) 4.50 4.60
The probability of retirement (%) 93.63 93.89

Additionaliy, the principal actuarial assumption is that the maximum liabiiity wili increase in line with
infiation. Thus, the discount rate applied represents the expected real rate after adjusting for the eftects
of future infiation. As the annual ceiling is revised semi-annualiy, the ceiling of fuli TL 4,426.16 effective
from January 1, 2017 (January 1, 2016 - fiili TL 4,092.53) has been taken into consideration in
calculating the reserve for empioyment termination benefıts of the Parent and its domestic subsidiaries.

25. Other iiabiiities

December3l, 2016 December3l,
2015

Credit card payables 7,115,087 6411,803
Miscellaneous payables to customers 2,474,234 1,838,677
Clearing accounts<l> 659,991 1,424,257
Blocked accounts 585,909 539,829
Unearned income 300,146 270,603
Taxes other than on income and withhoidings 260,166 262,352
Import deposit and transfer orders 254,120 850,121
Premium and bonuses payable ta personnel 238757 107,852
Provision for unused annual vacabon 171,811 159,125
Advances taken 55,438 59,738
Saving Deposits Insurance Fund payable 45,734 38,037
Other 1,502,519 990,941

Total 13,663,912 12,953,335

Current 13,663,600 12,952,028
Non-current 312 1,307

(1) Clearing accounts mainiy consist of payables from ciearing houses related to interbank, credit
card and cheque transactions. The account balance is settled on a daily basis and arises
based on the number of transactions the day before the reporting date.
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26. Acquisitions and mergers

(1) Mergers, transfers and acquisitions in the year 2016 and 2015

None.

27. Share capital and share premium

The histohc amount of share capital of the Bank consists of 434705,128.40 <2015 - 434705128.40)
authorized shares with a nominal value of TL 001 each. The Company’s authorized capital amounts
to TL 4,347,051 (2015- TL 4,347,051).

The issued and fully paid-in share capital and share premium are as follows:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Partıcıpatıon Participation

Şhareholders rate (%) rate (%)

Koç Finansal HizmetlerAŞ. 81.80 3,555,712 81.80 3,555712
Other 1820 791,339 18.20 791339

Historical share capitaı 100.00 4,347,051 100.00 4,347,051

Adjustment ta share capital (60,471) <60,471)
Share premium 535,679 535,679

Total share capital and share premlum 4,822,259 4,822,259

Transfer of the 59.47% of the shares of Yapı Kredi Faktoring A.Ş. with a nominal value of TL 9,992,
73.10% of the shares of Yapı Kredi Finansal Kiralama A.O. with a nominal value of TL 285,048 and
99.80% of the shares of Yapı Kredi Bank Azerbaijan with a nominal value of AZN 6336200 <fulfl; alI
formeriy owned by KFS were completed as of October 31, 2007. As a part of this share exchange the
Bank’s capital was increased by TL 277,601 through inoreasing the shareholding of KFS. Besides, the
ditferences between the nominal values of the shares issued by the Bank and the fair values of the
shares transferred to the Bank amounting to TL 495,852 has been recorded in equity as Share
Premium”.
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28. Retained earnings and other resewes

December3l, 2016 December3l,2015

Statutory reserve 844.564 751,537
Translalion reserves 832,926 506,391
Revaıuation reserve available-for-sale inveştmentş (420,697) <242,235>
Hedging reserves (104,501) (54,488)
Re-measurement gains on defıned benefit Iiability 10,548 5,610
Revaıuatian of art oblects and painbngs 32,693 32,693

Total otherreseives 1,195,533 999,508

Retained eaminps 20,901,197 17,749,148

Movements in other reserves were as folJows:

Statutory Revaıuauon Translatıon Hedglng Actuarlal Revaıuatıon
reselyes reseışes reserves reserves galns of flxed assets Total

AtJanuary 1, 2016 751,537 <242,235) 506,391 (54,488) 5,610 32,693 999,508

Net change in available-for-sale
investments. net of tax . (178.462) . - . . (178,462)
Gains / (tosses) on hedges of a net
investment in a Foreign operation . . . (161,1 98) . . (161,1 98)
Gains/ (losses) on cash flow
hedges . . - 111,185 . - 111,185
Currency translation differences . - 326,535 . - - 326,535
Re-measurement gains on defıned
beneflt liability, net of tax - - - . 4,938 - 4,938
Revaluatıan of art objects and
paintings, net of tax - - - - -

Transfer ta statutary reserves 93,027 - - . - 93,027

Atoecember3l, 2016 844,564 (420,697) 832,926 <104,501) 10,548 32,593 1,195,533

Statutory Revaluaflon Tmnslat$on HBdgIng Attuaflü) Revaluaüan
reserves reserves rssanes reseşves gatns of fized assola Total

AtJanuary 1, 2015 641,025 479,515 401,303 (523,203) (10,900) 17,625 955,565

Net ciange in available-for-saıe
investments, net of tax . (671,750) . - - - (671,750)
Gains / (Ios5es) on hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation - - - (96,262) - - (96,262)
Gains / (losses) on 03511 flow
hedges . - - 564,977 -

. 564,g77
Curency translation differences - - 105,088 . - . 105,088
Re-measuremenı gains on deflned
benefıt liabiiıty. net of tax - - - - 16.510 - 16510
Revaluation of art objects and
paintings. net of tax - - - - - 14,866 14,668
Transfertostatutory reserves 110,512 - - - - 110,512

At December 31, 2015 751,537 (242,235) 508,391 (54,488> 5,610 32,693 999,508
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28. Retained earnings and other resewes (continued)

Retained eamings as per the statutory financial statements other than statutary reserves are available
for disfributian, subject ta the statutory reserve requirement referred ta below.

Under the Turkish Commercial Code, the Group is required ta create the following statutory reserves
from appropriation of earnings, which are available for distribution oniy in the event of Iiquidation or
losses:

a) First statutory reserve, appropriated at the rate of 5% of net incame, until the total reserve is
equal ta 20% af issued and fuliy paid-in share capital.

b) Second statutary reserve, appropriated at the rate of at least 10% of distribution in excess of 5%
of issued and fuliy paid-in share capital, without Jimit. it may be used ta absorb losses.

After deducting taxes and setting aside the statutory reserves as discussed above, the remaining
balance of statutory net profıt is available for distributian ta sharehaiders.

29. Net interest income

December3l, 2016 December3l, 2015

Interest income on:
Loans and advances:
-tobanks 161,091 84579
- ta custamers 15,876,626 13,280,132

Trading and investment securitles 2,279,900 2,272,466
Derivative fınanciai instruments 773,887 742,686
Financiai leases 517,228 438,643
Reserve deposits 118,632 43,309
Other 23,819 38,413

Total interest income 19,751,183 16,900,228

Interest expense on:
Due ta customers (7,709,100) (6,220,643)
Funds borrowed (1,065,679) (991,607)
Securities issued (968,296) (825,583)
Derivative fınancial instruments (843,105> (1,648,525)
Repurchase agreements (579,234) (591,734)
Depositsfrom banks (157,950) (115,006)
Other (408,852) (372,619)

Total interest expense (11,732,216) <10,765,717)

Net interest income 8,018,967 6,134,511
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30. Net fee and commission income

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Fee and commission Income on:
CrediYdebit cards 1,708,997 1502,793
Banking services 992,810 1,101,342
Assets undermanagement 167,628 160,140
Loans
- Credit related commitments 513595 447020
-Loans and advances 11047 12,990
Brokerage 58,764 62,015
Insurance products 192,809 202,395
Factoring 18,272 16,976
Other 42,513 34,613

Total fee and commission Income 3,706,435 3,540,284

Fee and commission expense on:
CrediUdebit cards (658,819> (618,276)
Brokerage (23,498> (18,262)
Factoring (2,475> (3,010>
Funds borrowed (58) (114>
Other (624,158) (480,239)

Total fee and commission expense (1,309,008> (1,119,901)

Net fee and commission income 2,397,427 2,420,383

31. Net trading, hedging and fair value income and net gains 1 losses from investment
securities

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Foreign exchange:
- Transaction gains Iess losses on derivatives and securities 1,378,705 (673,282)
Intereşt rate instmments (1,028,968) 733,244
Credit derivatives 720 (7,501)

350.457 52,461

Foreign exchange net trading income includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts,
options, futures and translated foreign currency assets and Iiabilities. Interest rate instruments include
the results of making markets in government securities, money market instruments, interest rate and
cross currency interest rate swaps. options, hedge tenis and other derivabves.
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32. Other operating expenses

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Staftcosts (2,316,008> (2,113,313)

Depreciation on property and equipment (Note 15) (208,820) (205,441)
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 14> (124721) (126,940)

Depreciation and amortization (333,541) (332,381)

Rent expenses (307,994) (291,922)
Payment to Saving Deposit Insurance Fund (176,119) (146,1 09)
Communication expenses (154,303) (145,984)
Audit and consultancy fees (147,853) (151,340>
Sundry taxes and duties (126,465) (126,247)
Marketing and advertisementcosts (114,068) (129,419)
Repair and maintenance expenses (103,256) (100,503)
Utilities expenses (51 .241) (50,278)
Charities (13,500) (9,864)
Other (743,744) (621,941)

General and administrative expenses (1,938,543> (1,773,607)

Total (4,588,092> (4,219,301)

33. lmpairment losses on Ioans, investment securities and credit related commitments

December3l, December 31,
2016 2015

Impairmentlosses on loans and receivables(Note 9) (2,382,210> (1 .533,392)
lmpairment losses on credit related commitments (Note 23) 19,643 (48,550)

(2,362,567) (1,581,942)
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34. Earnings per share

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statements of income is determined by dividing the
net income attributable to the equity holders of the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding dudng the period concerned.

in Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares
(“bonus shares”) to existing shareholders trom retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per
share computations, the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period is adjusted
in respect of bonus shares issued without a corresponding change in resources by giving thern a
retroactive eftect for the period in which they were issued and for each eariier period.

The Bank has not issued any shares attributable to transfers to share capital from retained earnings
during the year ended December 31, 2016 <2015- none).

The earnings attributable to basic shares for each period are as follows

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Profit atiributable to equity holders of the Parent 3,248269 2,690,133
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue (thousand) (1 Kr each) 434,705,128 434,705,128

Basic and diiuted earnings per share (expressed in TL, fuli amount
per thousand share) 7.47 6.19
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Notes to the consolidated fınancial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

35. Assets pledged and restricted

The Group has the following assets pledged as collateral:

December3l, 2016 Oecember3l, 2015
Related Reıated

Assets ılablılty Assets Iablıity

ınvestment securities <Note 10> 12.229,685 10,663792 18,706686 14351,251
Otherassets pledged 1586505 - 660879 -

Total 13,816,190 10,663,792 19,367,565 14351,251

(1) Other assets pledged represent collateral giyen to the counter parties of the derivative tmnsactions and additionaı
collateral giyen in reıaflon to funds obtained under repurchase agreements.

Avaiiable-for-sale, held-to-maturity and trading secuhties whose total carrying amount is TL 7,882,529
as of December 31, 2016 (2015- TL 12775,342) are pledged to banks and other financial institutions
against borrowed funds and funds obtained under repurchase agreements and total return swap
transactions. The total amaunt of funds obtained under repurchase agreements and total return swaps
is TL 10,663,792 as of December 31, 2016 (2015 - TL 14,351,251). in aceordance with the terms of
the agreements with these financiai institutions (iransferees”), the Bank provides this collateral (debt
instruments as giyen above) to the transferees and the transferees have the right to seli or re-pİedge
the collaterais untO the expiry date of the agreements.

Securities are alsa pledged to regulatory authorities for legal requirements and ather fınancial
institutions as a guarantee for stock exchange and money market operations. These are mainly the
CBRT, İstanbul Stock Exchange (İSE) Settlement and Custody Bank and ather financial institutions
and amaunt to TL 4,347,157 (2015 - TL 5,931,344).

As of December 31, 2016, the Group’s reserve deposits, including those at foreign central banks,
amount to TL 27.864,220 (2015 - TL 25,118,042). There is also TL 119,931 (2015 - TL 179,900) af
blacked deposits heid in foreign bank accounts.

The Graup does not have any financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the flnanciaİ statements
er subject ta an enfarceable master neftng agreement or similar agreements. İn addition, the Graup
and its counterparties da not intend ta settle on a net basis or to reabze assets and settle liabilities
simuİtaneausly.

The Group receives and gives collateraİ in the form of cash and marketable securities in respect of the
above transactions summarized in the above table.

36. Commitments and contingent liabilities

İn the normal course of its activities, the Group undertakes various commitments and incurs certain
contingent liabilities that are not presented in these financiaİ statements, including letters of guarantee,
acceptances and letters of credit. The following is a summary of signiflcant commitments and
contingent liabilities.

Legal proceedings

Due to the nature of its business, the Group is involved in a number of claims and legal praceedings,
arising in the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes provisions for such matters when, in
the opinion of management and its professional advisars, it is probabİe that a payment will be made by
the Group, and the amount can be reliably estimated (Nate 23).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

36. Commitments and contingent Iiabilities (continued)

in respect of further claims asserted against the Group, which according ta the principles outlined
above, have not been provided for, it is the opinion of the management and its professional advisors
that such claims are either without merit, can be successfully defended or wili not have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s fınancial position.

Credit related commitments

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available ta a customer as and if
required. Guarantees and standby Ietters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the
Group wiil make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third pafties,
carry the same credit risk as Ioans. Documentary and commercial Ietters of credit, which are written
undertakings by the Group on behaif of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the
Group up to a stipulated amount under specifıc terms and conditions, are collateralized by the
underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore have signifıcantly Iess risk.

Cash requirements under guarantees and standby Ietters of credit are considerabiy Iess than the
amount of the commitment.

The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessariiy
represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments wili expire or terminate without
being funded.

As of December 31, 2016 the Group’s commitments for unused credit card Iimits amounted to TL
29,878,711 (2015 -TL 28,304,464).

The table beiow shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group’s contingent Iiabilities and
commitments. Each undrawn oan commitment is included in the time band containing the earliest
date it can be drawn down. For issued fınancial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the
guarantee is allocated ta the earliest period in which the guarantee could be called.

Not later Over
December 31, 201 6(1) indefinite than 1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total

Letterofcredits - 6,654,515 2,532,433 6,222 9,193,170
Letter of guarantees 21,464.214 9,410.155 18.179,733 3,738,129 52,792,231
Acceptance credits - 168,491 24,902 2,373 195,766
Other commitments 341,794 551,945 2,178,223 3,201,355 6,273,317

Total 21,806,008 16,785,106 22,915,291 6,948,079 68,454,484

Not later Over
December3l, 2015(1> Indefinlte than 1 year 1-Syears Syears Total

Letterofcredits - 5,752,609 2,284,257 6,997 8,043,863
Letter of guarantees 18,438,104 7,203,878 16,697,579 2,831,441 45,171,002
Acceptance credits - 147,671 24,795 1,058 173524
Othercommitments 296,558 420,689 1,519,946 2,018,614 4,255,807

Total 18,734,662 13,524,847 20,526,577 4,858,110 57,644,196

<1> Based on original maturities.
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37. Segment analysis

The Group carries out its banking operations through three main business units: (1) Retail Banking
(including credit cards and SME banking), (2) Corporate and Commercial Banking (3) Private Banking
and Wealth Management.

The Group’s Retail Banking activities inelude card payment systems, SME (small medium size
enterprises) banking and individual banking. Retail Banking products and services offered to
customers inelude card payment systems, consumer loans (including general purpose loans, auto
loans, mortgages), commercial installment loans, SME Ioans, time and demand deposits, gold
banking, investment accounts, life and non-life insurance products and payroll services. Card payment
systems cover the management of products, services, campaigns for member merchants as weli as
the sales and activities for a variety of customer types. Crystal, Play, Adios and Taksitçi are the other
card brands providing services for the different segments within the World brand, shopping and
marketing platform of the Bank. The Bank also offers debit card and a prepaid card named World
Hediye Card.

Corporate and Commercial Banking segment is organized into three subgroups: Corporate Banking
for large-scale companies, Commercial Banking for medium-sized enterprises and Multinational
Companies Banking for multinational companies. Corporate and Commercial Banking, has a product
range of working capital finance, trade finance, project fınance, domestic and international non-cash
loans such as letters of credit and letters of guarantee, cash management and internet banking.

Through its Private Banking and Wealth Management activities, the Bank serves high net worth
customers and delivers investment products to this customer segment. Among the products and
services offered to Private Banking customers are time deposit products, capital guaranteed funds,
mutual funds, Type A Type B funds, derivative products such as forwards, futures and options in
domestic futures exchange (VOB) and international markets, personal loans, foreign exchange, gold
and equity trading, pension plans, insurance products and 7/24 safe deposit boxes and e-banking
services. Also, personal art advisory, inheritance advisory, real estate advisory, tax advisory and
philanthropic advisory are offered within the Private Banking and Wealth Management activities.

The Group’s widespread branch network and alternative distribution channels including ATM5, telephone
banking, internet banking and mobile banking are utilized to serve customers in alI segments. Foreign
operations include the Group’s banking transactions in the Netherlands, Azerbaijan, Russia and Malta.
Treasury, Asset — Liability Management and other operations, mainly consist of treasury management’s
results, operations of supporting business units and other unallocated transactions.

The below table is prepared in accordance with the Management Information System (MIS) data of the
Grou p.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

37. Segment anaiysis (continued)

The Group’s management manages segment performance based on IFRS consolidated figures.

Corporato Pdvato Troasury,
banking banking assaf llabllity

Ratali Commorcial wealth Foreign Domestic man, t
Dacember 31, 2016 banklng banking managamant operatlons oparatlons Otheı41> Ellmlnationa<” Group

Segment revenue 4.352372 2,506216 236.421 257.663 632.382 2.700.788 61,908 11,047,750
Segment eapenaes (4,331,137) (1,020.631) (102,516) (119.531) (233,476) (1,302,515) 6,968 (7,102,641)

Segment result 21.235 1.765,585 133,905 138,132 398,906 1,398,270 68,576 3.944.909
Operating proflt 21,235 1,785,585 133,905 138132 398,906 1,398270 68,876 3,944,909
Sharo of raşulfs of assodates

and joinf vanturos - - - - 85,362 . 65,362
Profit beforo fax 21,235 1,785,585 133,905 138,132 398,906 1,483,632 68,876 4,030,271
Income fax expense4’ . - - - - (781.936) . (761 936)
Profit forthe yaar 21,235 1,785,585 133,905 138,132 398,906 701,696 68.876 3,248,335

Decembor 31. 2015

Segment assetd5> 66.420.767 67.360,696 156,652 9,235,035 16,804,261 89,217,723 (3,344,929) 267.550,205
Asaociates and joint ventures - . . . . 682,728 . 682,726

Total assets 58,420,767 87,360.696 156,652 9,235,035 16,804.261 89,900,451 (3.344,929) 268,532,933

Segment Jabilities13> 61,218.411 55,627.497 32.536,775 7.482,674 14,577,346 100.686,053 (3,795,825) 268,532.933

Total lIabiIItIoa 61,218,411 55,827,497 32,535,775 7.482,574 14,577,348 100,586,053 (3,795.825) 268,532,933

(1> Other segment flabflities alsa inolude the equity.
(2> Consolidation adjustments include transactions with subsidiaries and investments consolidated and other consohdated

adjustments in these financial statements.
(3) Segment asset and Habflities figures are prepared according to Management Information Systems (MİS) data.
(4) Income tax expenses have not been distdbuted based on operating segments and have been presented under ‘Treasury, asset

)iabflhty management and otheC.

Corporato Pdvato Treasuış.
banktng banking assaf IIabiIity

Refah Commercbai weaifh Foreign Domestic man, 8.
December 31. 2015 banklng banking managenant operatlons oporatlons Dtheı41> Ellminatlona<’> Gmup

Sogmont revenue 4.085.978 2,371,581 213,250 252,546 574,141 1.730,851 (24.690) 9,203.657
Sogmont expensoa (3,625,714) (798,972) (94,552) (152,4%) (236,013) (1,004.713) 8,715 (5,906,655)

Segmenf result 457.264 1,572,609 118,698 100140 338,128 726.136 (15.975) 3.297.002
Oporating profit 457,264 1,572,609 118,698 100,140 338,128 726,138 (15,975) 3,297,002
Share of resulta of aasodatea

and oint venfures - - - . . 50,806 - 50.806
Profit boforo fax 457,254 1,572,609 118.698 100.140 338.128 776,944 (15,975) 3,347,808
Incame fax espenset4’ - . - - . (657.624) . (657.624)
Profit for the yaar 457,264 1,572.609 118.698 100,140 338,128 119,320 (15,975) 2,690,184

Decamber 31, 2015

Segment assefst2’ 67,828,587 69410,903 169.838 7.539,992 13,045,446 76,400 229 (1,929.989) 232,473,006
Asaaciafes and joint vanfuras . . . . . 566,076 . 566,076

Total assofs 67,828.587 59,410903 169.838 7,539.992 13,045.446 76,974,305 (1,929.989) 233.039.082

Sagment liabLhİtiea 51,068.598 49.253,094 28,125.979 6,156919 11.041,206 69.753,787 (2.360.501) 233,039,082

Tofal ilabItitles 51,058.598 49,253.094 28.125,979 6,156,919 11,041,206 89,753,787 (2,360,501) 233.039,082

(1) Othersegment İiabihhties alsa inctude the equity.
(2> Consoljdatjon adjustments include transactions with subsidiaries and investments consolidated and other cansolidated

adjustments in these fınancial statements.
(3> Segment asset and liabHities figures are prepared according to Managemenı lnformation Systems (MiS> data.
(4> Income tax expenses have not been distributed based on operating segments and have been presented under “Treasury, asset

liability management and other”.
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38. Related party transactions

Parties are considered ta be related if ane party has the ability to cantrol the other party or exercise
signiflcant influence over the other party in making fınancial or aperational decisians, The Graup is
contralled by Kaç Graup and UCG, awning 50% af the ardinary shares each af KFS.

A number af transactions were entered inta with related parties in the normal course of business.

(i) Balances with related parties:

Decamber 31, 2016
Key

Parent OtJıerO> manapement Tataı

Laans and advances ta custamers. net 460,857 2.805.226 59 3,269,172
Trading and investment secudües - 240,124 - 240,124
Derivative flnanciaı instruments 2,028 504 - 2,532
Laans and advances ta banks 55,557 35,256 - 93,813
Other assets 5 1,296 - 1301

Total assets 521 477 3,085,406 59 3,606,942

Customerdeposits 11,536,318 7.241,686 218,528 18,996,532
Funds barrawed 18,958,940 301 .269 - 19,260,209
Derivative flnancial instruments 23,293 11 - 23,304
Other liabiiities 198 668 - 866
Depasits from hanks 633,580 173,284 - 806,864

Tataı ılabliitles 31,152.329 7,716,918 218,528 39,087,775

Commitment under derivative instruments 8,532,884 802,512 . 9,335,396
Gredit related cammitments 1.158,561 2,595,229 ‘ 3,753,790

Tataı commıtments and contıngent ılabiııues 9,691,445 3,397,741 - 13,089,186

December 31, 2015
Key

Parent Other41 management Tataı

Loans and advances ta customers, net 106,535 1,994,450 28 2,101,013
Trading and investment securities - - - -

Denvative fınancial instruments - 3,262 - 3,262
Laans and advances ta hanks 346 41,240 - 41,586
Otherassets - 106 - 106

Tabi assets 106,851 2,039,058 28 2,145,967

Custamerdeposits 8,574,937 4,598,601 140,158 13,613,696
Funds borrowed 10,526,570 241,175 - 10,768,045
Derivative fınanciaı instruments 25,192 - - 28,192
Other ıiabilities 29 67 - 96
Deposits tram hanks 631,844 144,359 - 776,203

Totaı ııabiıitles 20,061,872 4,984,202 140,158 25,186,232

Cammitmentunderderivative instruments 1,455,484 146,778 - 1,602,262
Credit related cammitments 954,585 2,450,395 - 3,404,980

Totaı commitments and contingent ılabilltles 2,410,069 2,597,173 - 5,007,242

<1) Other cansists of entities with jaint cantrol or signifıcant influence over entities, associates and
jaint ventures in which they are joint-venturer or related parties.

(88)



Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016 (continued)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of TL unless otherwise indicated.)

38. Related party transactions (continued)

(ii) Transactions with related parties:

Oecember 31, 2016
Key

Parent management Totaı

ınterest ncome on laans and
advances ta customers 4,981 247.470 2 252,453

Fee and commission ncome 16,138 36,401 . 52,539
Interest income on financial leases . 17,558 - 17558
Interest income on ıoans and advances to banks - 432 - 432

Totaı interest and fee income 21,119 301,861 2 322,982

Interest expense on deposits (1,021951) (567,540) (4> (1,589495>
Interest expense on funds borrowed (85,425) (70,965) . (156,390)
Other operating expense (5,557) (5,813) . (11,370)
Fee and commission expense - (308> (308)

Totaı interest and fes expense (1,112,933> (644,626) (4) (1757,563)

December3l, 2015
Key

Parent Other{> management Totaı

Interest income on laans and
advances ta customem 13,047 207.859 220,906

Fee and cammission income 12,375 36,403 - 48,778
Interest income on financial leases . 21 .728 - 21,728
Interest income on ıoans and advances ta banks - 220 . 220

Totaı interest and fee income 25,422 266,210 - 291,632

Interest expense an depasfts (821,199) (381.826) <1,681) (1204,706)
Interest expense on funds borrowed (71204) (72,176) - (143,380)
Other aperatıng expense (3,747) <8,273) - (12,020)
Fee and cammission expense - (216)

- (216>

Total Interest and fee expense (896.150) (462,491) (1,681> (1,360,322)

(1) Other consists of entitles with joint control or signiflcant influence over entities, associates and
joint ventures in which they are a joint-venturer or related parties.

Salaries and other benefits paid to the Group’s key management approximately amount to TL 56,454 as
of December 31, 2016<2015 - TL 47,455).

A signifıcant part of the related party balances and transactions are with related parties other than the
parent or associate or joint venture; mainly comprising Koç Group and UCG entities.

39. Assets under management

At December 31, 2016, the Group managed 35 mutual funds <2015 - 37) with total fund value of TL
7,365,523 (2015 - TL 6,816,812) and 21 private pension funds (2015 - 20) with total fund value of TL
8,008,952 <2015 - TL 6,196,396), which were established under Capital Markets Board of Turkey
(“CMB”) regulations.

40. Subsequent events

None.
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